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Of all the new technologies of 2001,
XM Satellite Radio is way, way, way above the rest.

— Peter Lewis, Fortune

Dear Shareholder:

; ln ; ramh That je Mha ol 3 WA fon A . ;
Prernisss mads, promisss xept That is the stery of XM in ihe last year

After years of tireless planning and preparation, XM launched America's first satellite radio service on September 25, 2001,

But we delivered more than just a historic first: we launched what Fortune magazine called the “Product of the Year”

— a world-class service that is delivering 100 channels of digital-quality sound nationwide, with an unprecedented range
of audio entertainment. We ended 2001 with 28,000 subscribers and are quickly approaching the 100,000 milestone.
We also created the “Car Potato” — people across the nation finding excuses to drive around just to listen to XM or sitting
in their driveways listening to great music.

We were able to succeed because in 2001, we hit milestones, met targets, closed deals, built, invested, innovated,
demonstrated and marketed this fabulous new service under adverse conditions, particularly after September 11. Over
the last year, we:

oDeluted 100 digital channels of amazing radio, many commercial free, providing the most diverse selection of
audio entertainment available anywhere in the U.S.

oCompieted and validated our technology, particularly our chipset, which was delivered to our manufacturing
partners in time for them to produce 24 different XM radio models.

o Dzliveret XM radios to thousands of retail outlets nationwide by Christmas, including national chains Best Buy
and Circuit City.

oLaurered an aggressive, multi-media advertising campaign that put “Radio to the Power of X" on the map, and
completed a 60-city “Power of X" press tour, winning accolades from coast to coast.

oInireduced the first ever factory-installed satellite radio in General Motors Cadillac DeVille and Seville models.
oStrenginened our financial foundation with new financings representing more than $382 million.

oLzunchzd “Rock” and “Roll,” two of the most powerful communications satellites ever built and constructed our
network of approximately 800 repeaters.

°Signed key programming partners including MTV, VH1, FOX News, CNN Headline News, ABC News & Talk,
ESPN, FOX Sports, Radio Disney, E!, CNET and CNBC.

fArmourced a joint marketing agreement with DIRECTV designed to drive XM subscriber growth.

oCzenet studios in Nashville at the Country Music Hall of Fame and in New York City to complement our state-
of-the-art, 80-plus studio broadcast complex in Washington, D.C.

To culminate this year of 2001 promises kept, we not only rolled out America’s first digital satellite radio service in late
September, but also took it national in 45 days and made it the fastest-growing new consumer electronics audio product
in 20 years.




Gary Parsons Chairman Hugh Panero President and CEQ

Yet as successful as we have been, we recognize that we still have more to do and we're keeping the
momentum going. Right now we are:

VEmascan oo g oL g snas. Weintend to spread the word about XM, using our multi-media

marketmg effort to increase our subscrrber base and make XM a true mass-market product.

Fgnninz ol waziez amurg eer sonznizs. GM's announcement that it will expand the

avallabrlrty of XM radios as a factory mstalled optlon to 25 model year 2003 cars is a big step.
We recently announced auto agreements with Isuzu, Volkswagen/Audi and Nissan/Infiniti.

o pmeminz oo Tea i oz, Pioneer, Sony and Alping have been our leading suppliers. The
Proneer unrversal receiver and in-dash AM/FM/XM radios have been popular XM products. Alpine
offers in-dash XM radios and recently introduced an XM universal receiver that enables any existing
car radio to receive XM. Sony, building on the success of its award-winning XM “Plug and Play”
radio, will soon offer a full line of in-dash car radios.

O UMIEILITE L CBEL CEL Recent retail expansion includes product availability at Sears and
additional partrcrpatrng RadroShack franchise dealer outlets, truck stops and independent car
stereo refailers.

o mm el e e M e i Ve We're listening to our subscribers. We take their
requests via an 800 number and our website, and we are acting on their suggestions to make XM
even better.

Moreover, we are aware that the most important promise we have to keep is to our shareholders, our strategic
partners including GM, Clear Channel Communications, DIRECTV and American Honda, and of course, our
subscribers. We acknowledge that the Product of the Year is truly the product of your faith in us and in our
vision. We continue to hit milestones, execute our business plan and win recognition. Our goal over time is to
reward you fully for standing behind us with financial performance.

Years ago, we were asked the basic question: “Would people pay for radic?” In 2001, the answer was a
resounding “yes.” XM is truly the next generation of radio. Beyond AM. Beyond FM.

Don't take our word for it ... throughout this annual report we'll let others speak for us.

PR %9/74/

Gary Parsons Hugh Panero
Chairman President and CEO
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- Product of the Year

- Peter Lewis, Fortune

FORTUNE

teCh XM would have made history by merely launching America’s first commercial satellite

a radio service. But we went beyond simply intraducing something new and developed
a service that was so fun, functional and consumer friendly that Fortune named XM
the Product of the Year.

Y.

XM, wrote Peter Lewis of Fortune, “is the first major advance in radio since FM
emerged in the 1960s, and the best thing to happen to mobile music since the
dashboard CD player ... If you spend a lot of time on the highways, you'll never go
back to listening fo stations that fade in and out and don’t play your kind of music.”

Fortune's designation of XM as its best of 2001 was a sentiment echoed by a
'*@U@Uhu @ multitude of reviewers across the country. The experts’ rave reviews touched upon
Best » every element of XM:
of What's v -

WHATS NEW lw»ms HEXT

On our music: “The more I spun the Sony's dial, the more I heard the
true music appreciation and knowledge going into the programming —
from the progressive, twangster sounds of ‘X Country’ to the invigorating
contemporary gospel of ‘Spirit,” the pure grit of ‘Bluesville’ and the arly
eclectic mix of ‘Fine Tuning’.” — Philadelphia Daily News

“I had a tough time giving it up ... and I'm a music critic with
thousands of my own CDs at hand.” — Detroit Free Press

On the quality of our sound: “Most people in mast cars could easily
mistake satellite radio for CD ...”" — Popular Science

“CD-quality audio ..."” — Chicago Tribune

On our diversity: “The programming choices were nothing short of
awesome ... XM’s 100 channels offer breathtaking diversity.”
— Chicago Tribune

“With 100 channels of music, news and talk, it offers far more variety

than any one cily’s set of FM outlets ..." — Washington Post
O af T Bt W-‘-;"‘ On our technology: “XM’s signal was consistent, even under the freeway
Une af e Bast M overpasses and near tall buildings ...” — San Francisco Chronicle
e .. .. .
Bast of CES “Sea-to-shining-sea digital saturation ..." — Entertainment Weekly

g Concluded Fortune’s Peter Lewis: “Satellite radio is music to my ears ... beam me up.”
Inmigvetons Asard The positive reviews XM has received underscores that we have beamed the entire
nation up to a new level of entertainment enjoyment, with a product of such high
quality, that it has set an unbeatable standard for an entirely new medium.
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XM in pulling an ouistanding team of and
menuisciuing pariners to complets the and gpplication of
breglktirough In fust four short years.

XM s & technology thet delivers world-class science and innovetion from the far
reaches of outer spacs to yeur inner egr. [n 2001 we deployed:
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YERIS &go.
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100 Channels. 100 New Choices.
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= Hilariously Plentitudinous Multi-Genre
Programming ... | Think I'm in Love. &

— Entertainment Weekly . &

“In this era of corporate control of major broadcast stations and rigid playlists,
salellite radio’s muiti-channel approach offers the chance for iconoclastic rock radio
announcers infused with a love of the music to re-emerge ..." — Los Angeles Times

“For decades, commercial radio has been shackled by inane DJs, tiny playlists and
dull imaginations. That's about to change ..." — Rolling Stone

Part rocket science, part rock and roll: XM's content is as cutting-edge as the
technology behind it. The most revolutionary aspect may be the manner in which XM
sets radio free by providing listeners choices never before heard in the history of radio,
and by offering unprecedented live programming anchored by a team of world-class
on-air talent.

Unmatched music choice: Today, half of all radio stations are tied to just three
formats: country, adult contemporary, and news/talk/sports. XM frees radio, and more
important, its artists, personalities and listeners, from the few confining formats now
dominating the medium by offering an unprecedented choice of 71 music channels
covering every imaginable genre, including many never before heard on radio. XM’s
music channels are not just stations — they are destinations that feature exciting new
artists and personalities.

Beyond just music: XM's music channels aren't the only place listeners can enjoy
unparalleled selection. Listeners can also tune in to 29 channels featuring news,
sports, talk and entertainment including the only nationwide 24-hour radio broadcasts
of MTV, VHI, BET, NASCAR and USA Today. Cther key partners include CNBC,

CNN Headline News, CNNfn, FOX News, FOX Sports, BBC World Service, ABC News
& Talk, Bloomberg, C-SPAN Radio, Radio Disney, Discovery Radio, £!, ESPN, Sporting
News Radio, Weather Channel, CNN En Espanol, Sesame Workshop and CNET. With
XM, consumers get the same extensive 24-hour news coverage in their cars that they
are used fo receiving at home on cable or satellite television.

XM also offers an all-star team of top name news, sports and talk talent including
Art Bell, Sean Hannity, Phil Hendrie, Geraldo Rivera, Jim Lehrer, Sam Donaldson,
Bill O'Reilly, Tim Russert, Maria Bartiromo, Suze Orman, Dan Patrick and Rick Dees.

XM coMedy XM TALKEVARIETY
3 Channels 9 Channels
XM ROCK XM COUNTRY XMHITS
10 Channels 6 Channels 15 Channels
xmjazzsblues I2: XMCLASSIiCAL{
6 Channels : 4 Channels

[Maxdiyrck
Program Divstior, Regl Jarz

WMasdiarenteail
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‘ ‘ Radio has always been the best way
to allow our music to be heard. Now,
XM makes it better than ever. XM is
the best thing to come our way in

many, many years.
— Willie Nelson, Country Music Legend and XM Subscriber

Music made fresh daily: XM isn't elevator music. Only XM delivers 1500 hours of live
satellite radio programming each week with daily live shows across the most popular
genres. And the reason we can do it, beyond our 100 channels and wealth of partners,
is our investment in a staff of 200 program and music directors, consultants and on-air
personalities, described as a “who's who” of radio talent led by our own Lee Abrams,
XM's Chief Programmer, who is considered one of the top radio programmers of all time.

Altogether, XM's staff offers 1250 total years of experience, is responsible for 400
gold records, has won 62 Record Industry Trade Awards, 33 ASCAP Awards, 23
Programmer of the Year Awards and 3 Grammys.

XM programmers draw on a digital music library of more than 1.5 million songs —
the largest collection of music outside the Library of Congress — ensuring that our
music presentations go beyond the usual tired playlists.

Our in-house talent is complemented by our artist family led by Quincy Jones, the
cultural and music icon who has helped shape American music from jazz to hip-hop
and Wynton Marsalis, the ambassador of jazz, considered the most outstanding jazz
musician and trumpeter of his generation. Both Quincy and Wynton are creating
content for XM along with other artists in this expanding family.

XM's unrivaled capabilities have allowed it to pursue historic live programming firsts
including nationwide satellite radio broadcast of the World Series, the College Football
Championship Series and, through our relationship with NASCAR, Winston Cup and
other NASCAR sponsored races. We also paid tribute to George Harrison and aired
Handel’s “Messiah” live from Trinity church in NYC as well as concerts from Sting
and VH1 to benefit the NYC victims of September 11.

XM creates fans — not just listeners: Our world-class programming team and
programming partners are indeed all about treating music listeners like music
lovers ... because loving the music is what satellite radio is all about.

XM_URBAN ] XM WORL.D B NEWS
7 Channels 6 Channels 12 Channels
xm dance DIMIDIEICIAIDIELE]
4 Channels 6 Channels
XM LATIN XM KiDs
5 Channels 2 Channels 5 Channels




2003 Models
Featuring XM

BME Brands

BUICK
LeSabre | Rendezvous

@) e
CTS | DeVille

Escalade | Escalade £SV
Escalade EXT | Seville

7 CHEVROLET
Avalanche | Cavalier | impala
Monte Carlo | Sitverado
Suburban | Tahoe

GMC

Denali | Denali XL | Sierra
Yukon | Yukon XL

Alero

Aztec | Bonneville
Grand Am | Sunfire

Other Brands

isuzu
Axiom | Rodeo

\/

DRIVEN.

Murano | Pathfinder

INFINITI

G35 135 | M45 | 045

® o
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XM is yet another example of General
Motors’ commitment to leadership in
innovative products and services ...
we are expanding this unique feature
across our car lines.

-— Gary Cowger,
President, GM North America

- = PRS-

— Allan McCuliough, President and CEO, Circuit City

XM has attracted outstanding automotive distribution partners, including Buick, Cadillac,
Chevrolet, Chevy Trucks, GMC, Oldsmobile, Pontiac, Saab, Saturn, Isuzu, Subaru,
Suzuki and most recently Volkswagen/Audi and Nissan/Infiniti.

GM is a key strategic XM investor and automotive partner and became the first auto
manufacturer in the world to offer XM as a factory-installed option on 2002 Cadillac
DeVille and Seville models. GM will dramatically expand availability of XM radios as a
factory-installed option across 25 popular car and truck models including the Buick
LeSabre, Cadillac CTS, Chevrolet Cavalier, Impala, Avalanche, Silverado, Suburban and
Tahoe, GMC Yukon and Pontiac Grand Am to name a few. GM expects to have XM
available on all its models in the next two years.

XM has also attracted truck manufactures like Freightliner and Peterbilt and several
truck fleets. The service is extremely popular among the three million truck drivers in
the United States. We have also expanded availability of XM radios at truck stops such
as Pilot and Travel Centers of America.

We executed on the retail front with our equally outstanding group of retail partners
including Best Buy, Circuit City, Tweeter, Good Guys, Crutchfield, Ultimate Electronics,
Car Toys, The Wiz, Sound Advice and many other retailers. In 2002, retail distribution
is expanding into Sears, one of the nation's premier retailers, and participating
RadioShack dealers and franchisees.

XM also recently announced a joint marketing agreement with DIRECTV, another
strategic XM investor, to harvest XM subscribers from the existing base of DIRECTV
satellite television customers — because if you love satellite television, you'll love
satellite radio. .

Thanks to this powerful marketing and retailing engine, XM is already exceeding all
expectations in terms of consumer uptake. But with the engine just revving up, the
best is yet to come!

"~
CRUTCHRAED SEARS

good guys’
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— Snoop Dogg,
XM TV Commercial

Oignimbegonelmanketinsfeoalfhasibeenitoleostettectivelyloiow]
cuigsibseiiberdbaselandlbuilchtnepVibrands

Qur nefional multi-media campaign the service &s the
ulimete radic @perience — “Redlo to the Power of X.” Premisring
on more then 19,000 movie sereans and the MTY Music Video
Awaires, the innovetive campeign was enchored by television
commerclals fesfuring supersiars Bowle, B.B. King and
Dogg felling from the sky Inte unlikely pleces to ntroduce XiW's
unprecedented variely of progremming. These TV ads were
supporiad by nefionel and lecal newspapsr and radio ads designed o
fully explein the benefits of XV and drive potentie] customers into
retell stores.

Our continued mereting efort Includes netionel calble TV, local
merket In fop markets, netienel and locel radio,
megazing, direct mel, and online acvertising. In sctdiion,
&n eggressive maneting progrem hes of potenitiel
listeners to semple XM progremming end XV radlies &t
musle concers and retall events nelfonwide.

The XV advertising biiz wes accompanied by & mejor pulblichy
campelgn, culmingting with & netionel prass tou
Thirougheut the Fll of 2001, XM weas covered in mere then 200
mejor newspaper stories and 400 broaccast stories acress the
country; reaching an audience of more then 90 milllen peogle.
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— Josh Holstead,
XM Subscriber, Houston, Texas

Universal customer
satisfaction:

An extraordinary

94% of XM's initial
customers have rated the
service as “excellent,” — b S, S &@5

92% called the sound

w gt i e e 2 ety ey e g o
sy e g 5 . s e

e " G s B ":u/‘ HER ey i G R e G e g
quality “excellent — G @l 164 &
and a near unanimous
99% said XM represented love iW;  Consumers are voting with their ears ... anc thelr dellars. XM
a “good” or “excellent” analysts’ expaciations with 30,000 subseribers in fts first 60 days effter launch,
value at $9.99 a month. representing the fastest consumer electronics sudio praduct Irtreguction in 20 years

aecording fo the Yanlkes Group. And we are quicldy approaching the 100,000 milesione.

- Y B8 & mess-mariek In contrast
XM Initial Subscribers (By Age Group) to the traditional eary prrofile for
new products, XM's initiel is
evenly distributied among age groups frem
18 to 54, witth subseribers in 48 states.

XM s i aeass
Interestingly, almest of our initlel
sulbserioers are In urban greas
clespite the avallebiiity of numerous AM
and FV choices. We are now expanding
distrilbution inte el arses
by much local redio cholcss.

To bulid on this sueesss, XM hes put @
sarfies of consumer fesdback mechanisms In
placs, ﬁ@m@t@ﬂﬂ#@@ numiber for subseribar
suggestions to & interactive, dynemic
website that | n@xmmmﬁwwg n@mvumg@mmh@
8bﬁntyw©@@ tact and Tnteract with each of XM's eriginal pragramming channels. XM Is
@ng@mwb@@ﬁ@@?i@@@fm@ﬂﬁ@c

B
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— Popular Science
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MANAGEMENT’'S DiSCUSSiON AND ANALYSIiS
OF FIiNANCIAL CONDiTiON AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides information that we believe is relevant to an assessment and
understanding of our financial condition and consolidated results of operations. This discussion should be read
together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes.

Intsodicticn
Overview

XM Satellite Radio Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 1992 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Motient Corporation.
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. became a holding company for XM Satellite Radio Inc. in early 1997.

We emerged from the development stage in the fourth quarter of 2001 following the commercial launch of our
service on a nationwide basis on November 12, 2001. We commenced commercial service of XM Radio in San
Diego and Dallas/Ft. Worth on September 25, 2001, expanded across the southern half of the United States in
mid-October and launched nationwide on November 12, 2001. As of December 31, 2001, we had 27,733
subscribers. Accordingly, we revised the presentation of our Statements of Operations to reflect those of

a commercial enterprise. Prior to that point, we were a development stage company with no significant
revenue-generating operations.

Since our inception in December 1992, we have devoted our efforts to establishing and commercializing the XM
Radio system. Our activities were fairly limited until 1997, when we pursued and obtained regulatory approval
from the FCC to provide satellite radio service {which we refer to as the DARS license). Prior to our commercial
launch, our principal activities included:

e designing and developing the XM Radio system, including launching our satellites, “Rock”™ and “Roll,”
to complete our space constellation, completing our state-ofthe-art broadcast studio facilities,
completing our ground segment, implementing our terrestrial network build-out, and validating
XM radios on the XM radio system;

* executing contracts with specialty programmers, retail distributors, radio manufacturers
and car manufacturers;

« receiving temporary FCC authority to operate our national repeater network; and

* securing financing for working capital and capital expenditures

To finance the establishment and commercialization of our system and fund the substantial losses incurred to
date, we have raised net proceeds of $S1.5 billion through December 31, 2001 from issuances of equity and
debt to investors and strategic partners, as further described under the heading “Liguidity and Capital Resources
— Funds Raised to Date.”

Aithough our system is substantially completed, we expect to incur significant operating losses for the next few
years as we seek to increase the number of subscribers and develop a stream of cash flow sufficient to cover
operating costs. We also have significant outstanding contracts and commercial commitments that need to be
paid over the next several years, including payments for work previously performed in constructing our system
and to fund marketing and distribution costs and repayment of long-term debt, as further described below under
the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Contractuat Obligations and Commercial Commitments.” Our ability
to become profitable ultimately depends upon our substantially increasing the number of our subscribers as well
as a number of other factors, as identified below under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources

— Funds Required in 2002 and Beyond.”

Resuls of

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2000

Revenue. Qur revenue consists primarily of customers’ subscription fees and advertising revenue. Revenue
from subscribers consists of our monthly $9.99 subscription fee, which is recognized as the service is provided,

and a non-refundable activation fee, which is recognized on a pro-rata basis over an estimated term for the
subscriber relationship (which estimate we expect to be further refined over the next few years as additional
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historical data becomes available). Our subscriber arrangements are cancelable, without penalty. Payments
received from customers receiving our service under promotional offers are not included as revenue until the
promotional period has elapsed, as these customers are not obligated to continue receiving our service beyond
the promotiona! period. Advertising revenue consists of sales of spot announcements to national advertisers that
are recognized in the period in which the spot announcement is broadcast. Agency commissions are presented
as a reduction to revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations, which is consistent with industry practice.

We recognized revenue of $533,000 from the date of iaunch through December 31, 20C1. Total revenue included
$246,000 in subscriber revenue and $295,000 in advertising revenue less sales commissions of $43,000.
We expect revenue to increase during 2002 as we add subscribers and attract additional advertisers.

Broadcasting Operations. Broadcasting operations expense was $101.5 million in 2001, compared with $31.0
million in 2000, an ncrease of $70.5 million or 227%. Broadcasting operations expense consists of content/
programming expense, system operations and customer care and billing operations.

Content/Programming — Content/programming expense was $27.9 million in 2001, compared with
$6.9 million in 2000, an increase of $21.0 million or 304%. This increase was the result of the cost

of content and headcount, third party programming fees, and estimates of royalties owed to performing
rights organizations. We expect content/programming expense to increase during 2002 as we operate
the XM Radic system for a full year and as revenue increases.

System Operations - System operations expense was $67.6 million in 2001, compared with $23.2 million
in 2000, an increase of $44.4 million or 191%. This increase primarily resulted from the operation of our
satellites and terrestrial repeater network and a charge of $26.3 million related to terrestrial repeater sites
no longer required. We expect this expense to increase during 2002, exclusive of the $26.3 million charge,
as our system operations continue to stabilize and we operate the system over the course of a full year.

Customer Care and Billing Operations — Customer care and billing operations expense was $6.0 million,
compared with $856,000 in 2000, an increase of $5.1 million or 567%. This increase resulted from our
commencement of commercial operations. Included in 2001 expense are 54.9 million of set-up and
pre-operating costs. We expect customer care and billing operations expense to increase during 2002,
exclusive of the $4.9 million in set-up and pre-operating costs, as we add subscribers.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense was $99.8 million in 2001, compared with $16.1 million

in 2000, an increase of $83.7 million or 520%. Sales and marketing expense inc-eased as a result of our
commencement of commercial operations and includes expenses related to our distribution partners, subscriber
acquisition costs, personnel, advertising creatior and media costs and significant pre-operations costs.

We expect sales and marketing expense to increase during 2002 as we add subscribers,

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expense was $24.6 millicn in 2001, compared with
$16.6 miflion in 2000, an increase of $8.0 million or 48%. The increase reflects additional headcount, facilities
and the commencement of commercial operations. We anticipate general and administrative expense to remain
relatively stable during 2002.

Research and Development. Research and development expense was $14.3 million (including depreciation of
$0.5 million) in 2001, compared with $12.7 million {including depreciation of $0.3 million) in 2000, an increase
of S1.6 million or 13%. The increase in research and development expense primarily resulted from increased
activity relating to our system technology development, including chipset design and uplink technology, in 2001.
We expect research and development expense to increase during 2002 as we work toward developing our
second generation chipset technology.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $42.0 million in 2001, compared
with $3.1 million in 2000, an increase of $38.9 million or 1,255%. The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense primarily resulted from our taking delivery of major components of our system during 2001, including
our two satellites and terrestrial repeater network. We expect depreciation and amortization expense to
increase during 2002 to reflect a full year's depreciation of our satellites and other components of our system.
However, we will cease to amortize goodwill, our DARS license, and other intangibles in accordance with new
accounting standards, as further described under the heading “Recent Accounting Pronouncements.”

Interest Income. Interest income was $15.2 million in 2001, compared with $27.6 million in 2000, a decrease

of $12.4 million or 45%. The decrease was the result of lower average balances of cash and cash equivalents
in 2001 as well as lower yields on our investments due to market conditions.
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Interest Expense. We incurred interest costs of $63.3 million, including a $6.5 million charge due to the
incentivized conversion of Holdings' 7.75% convertible notes, and $39.1 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively.
We capitalized interest costs of $45.2 miflion and $39.1 million associated with our DARS license and the XM
Radio system and expensed $18.1 million and S0 in 2001 and 2000, respectively, as the interest capitalization
threshold was exceeded.

Net Loss. Net loss for 2001 was $284.4 million, compared with $51.9 million in 2000, an increase of $232.5
million or 448%. The increase primarily reflects increases in broadcasting operations expense, sales and marketing
expense, depreciation and amortization expense and general and administrative expense in connection with our
commencement of commercial operations.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Revenue. We had no revenue during 2000 and 1999 because we had not yet commenced commercial operations.

Broadcasting Operations. Broadcasting operations expense was $31.0 million in 2000, compared with $3.9
million in 1999, an increase of $27.1 million or 695%. This increase reflects preparation for commercial operations,
including increased expense for headcount, facilities and services.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense was $16.1 million in 2000, compared with $3.4 million in
1999, an increase of $12.7 million or 374%. This increase reflects preparation for commercial operations,
including increased expense for headcount, facilities and services.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense was $16.6 million in 2000, compared with
$14.5 million in 1999, an increase of $2.1 million or 14%. The increase reflects increased expense for headcount,
facilities and services.

Research and Development. Research and development expense was $12.7 million (including depreciation of

$0.3 million} in 2000, compared with $7.4 miliion in 1999, an increase of $5.3 million or 72%. The increase in
research and development expense primarily resulted from increased activity refating to our system technalogy
development, including chipset design and uplink technology, in 2000.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.1 miflion, compared with
approximately $1.5 million in 1999, an increase of $1.6 million or 107%. During 2000, we commenced the
amortization of our goodwill and intangibles.

Interest Income. Interest income was $27.6 million in 2000, compared with $2.9 million in 1999, an increase

of $24.7 million or 852%. The increase was the result of higher average balances of cash and cash equivalents

in 2000 due to the proceeds from the private placement of 14% senior secured notes and warrants, the public
offerings of Class A common stock and Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock and the private placement
of Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock, all in the first nine months of 2000, which exceeded expenditures
for satellite and launch vehicle construction, other capital expenditures and operating expenses.

Interest Expense. We incurred interest costs of $39.1 million and $24.4 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively.
We capitalized interest costs of $39.1 million and $15.3 million associated with our DARS license and the XM Radio
system and expensed S0 and $9.1 miflion in 2000 and 1999, respectively. The increase in interest costs was the
result of the incurrence of new debt during the first quarter of 2000, which exceeded the reduction in interest due
to the conversion of all debt into equity in the fourth quarter of 1999. Further, the interest capitalization threshold
was exceeded in 1999,

Net Loss. Net loss for 2000 was $51.9 million, compared with $36.9 million for 1999, an increase of $15.0
million or 41%. The increase in net loss reflects increases in research and development and additional general and
administrative expense, primarily due to increased expense for headcount, facilities and services in preparation for
commercial operations and the amortization of goodwill and intangibles.
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anel Capital Resourses

At December 31, 2001, we had a total of cash, cash equivalents and shortterm investments of $210.9 miliion,
which excludes $72.8 million of restricted investments, and working capital of $157.0 million, compared with cash,
cash equivalents and short-term investments of $224.9 million, which excludes $161.2 million of restricted
investments, and working capital of $212.1 million at December 31, 2000. The decreases in the respective balances
are due primarily to the increasing capital expenditures and operating expenses for the year ended December
31, 2001, which were partially offset by funds raised from financing activities in the amount of $382.0 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2001 we had an operating loss of $281.6 million compared to $79.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000. At December 31, 2001, we had total assets of approximately $1.5 billion and total
liabilities of $529.6 million, compared with total assets of $1.3 billion and total liabitities of $337.3 million at
December 31, 2000. At December 31, 2001, we had $411.5 million of longterm debt outstanding (net of current
portion), compared with $262.7 million at December 31, 2000.

Non-Cash Stock-Based Expense

We incurred non-cash compensation charges of approximately $4.9 million and $2.7 million in 2001 and 2000,
respectively. These charges relate to stock options granted to employees and non-employees and warrants
granted to Sony and CNBC. Additional compensation charges may result depending upon the market value

of our Class A common stock at each balance sheet date.

Funds Raised to Date

Since inception, we have raised an aggregate of $1.5 billion net of expenses, interest reserve and repayment of
debt. These funds are expected to be sufficient, in the absence of additional financing, to cover funding needs
into the fourth quarter of 2002 based on our current business plan and as further described under the heading
“Funds Required in 2002 and Beyond.” These funds have been used to acquire our DARS license, make
required payments for our system, including the sateliites, terrestrial repeater system, and ground networks,
and for working capital and operating expenses.

Sources of Funds. Prior to our initial public offering, we raised approximately $167.0 million through the
issuance of equity to, and receipt of loans from, Motient Corporation and a former stockholder from 1997
through January 1999. In July 1999, we issued $250.0 million of Series A subordinated convertible notes to six
strategic and financial investors—General Motors, $50.0 million; Clear Channel Communications, $75.0 million;
DIRECTV, $50.0 million; and Columbia Capital, Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. and Madison Dearborn Partners, $75.0
milion in the aggregate. Using part of the proceeds from the issuance of the Series A subordinated convertible
notes, we paid a former stockholder $75.0 million in July 1999 to redeem an outstanding loan. In October
1999, we completed our initial public offering, which yielded net proceeds of $114.1 million. In January 2000,
we completed a follow-on offering of our Class A common stock, which yielded net proceeds of $132.1 million,
and an offering of our Series B convertibie redeemable preferred stock, which yielded net proceeds of $96.5
million. In March 2000, we completed a private placement of units consisting of $1,000 principal amount of
XM's 14% senior secured notes due 2010 and a warrant to purchase 8.024815 shares of our Class A common
stock at $49.50 per share, which yielded net proceeds of $191.5 million excluding $123.0 million for an interest
reserve. In August 2000, we completed a private placement of our Series C convertible redeemable preferred
stock, which yielded net proceeds of $226.8 miltion.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001:

* We completed a follow-on offering of 7,500,000 shares of Class A common stock, which yielded net
proceeds of $72.0 million, and a concurrent offering of 7.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2006,
convertible into shares of our Class A common stock at $12.23 per share, which yielded net proceeds
of $120.7 million;

» We closed a $66.0 million financing package with subsidiaries of The Boeing Company, which includes a
$35.0 million loan and deferral of $31.0 million of obligations to Boeing, our satellite manufacturer;

» We entered into a loan and security agreement with a lender that provided $29.0 million to purchase our
corporate headquarters and incurred $0.5 million in financing costs;
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» We completed a follow-on offering of 11,500,000 shares of our Class A common stock, yielding net
proceeds of $126.5 million;

» These issuances caused the conversion price of the Series C preferred stock to be adjusted to $22.17
and the exercise price of the warrants sold in March 2000 to be adjusted to $45.27 and number of
warrant shares to be increased to 8.776003 per warrant.

Uses of Funds. Of the approximately $1.5 hillion of funds raised to date, as of December 31, 2001, we have
paid $1.0 billion in capital expenditures, including approximately $90.0 million for our DARS license which has
been paid for in full, and incurred $409.6 million in operating expenses.

Satellite Contract. Under our sateflite contract, Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc. has delivered two
satellites in orbit and is to complete construction of a ground spare satellite. Boeing Satellite has also provided
ground equipment and software used in the XM Radio system and certain launch and operations support services.
The contract also provides for in-orbit incentives to be eamned depending on the performance of the in-orbit satellites
over their useful lives. Such payments could total up to an additional $70.2 million over the useful lives of the
satellites. We have deferred $31.0 million of payments under this contract to December 2006 at an interest
rate of 8 percent. As of December 31, 2001, we had paid approximately $470.4 million under our satellite
contract and have recognized an additional $741,000 in accrued milestone payments.

Launch Insurance. As of December 31, 2001, we had launched both of our satellites and paid $44.1 million
with respect to launch insurance, which has been capitalized to in-service satellites.

Terrestrial Repeater System. As of December 31, 2001, we incurred aggregate costs of approximately
$243.5 million for a terrestrial repeater system. These costs covered the capital cost of the design, development
and installation of a system of terrestrial repeaters to cover approximately 60 cities and metropolitan areas. In
August 1999, we signed a contract with LCC International, Inc., a related party, for engineering and site preparation.
As of December 31, 2001, we had paid $109.9 million under this contract and accrued an additional $15.4 million.
We have also engaged other companies to perform site preparation services. We also entered into a contract
effective October 22, 1999, with Hughes Electronics Corporation for the design, development and manufacture
of the terrestrial repeaters. Payments under this contract are expected to be approximately $128.0 million.

As of December 31, 2001, we had paid $95.8 million under this contract and accrued an additional $7.7 million.

Ground Segment. As of December 31, 2001, we incurred aggregate ground segment costs of approximately
$110.9 million. These costs were related to the satellite control facilities, programming production studios and
various other equipment and facilities.

DARS License. In October 1997, we received one of two satellite radio licenses issued by the FCC. We have
paid approximately $90.0 million for this license, including the initial bid right. There are no further payments
required relating to the license.

Purchase of Building. In August 2001, we acquired our corporate headguarters building for $34.0 million.

Operating Expenses. From inception through December 31, 2001, we have incurred total operating expenses
of $409.6 million,

Joint Development Agreement Funding Requirements. \We may require additional funds to pay license fees or
make contributions toward the development of the technologies used to develop a unified standard for satellite
radios under our joint development agreement with Sirius Radio. Each party is obligated to fund one half of the
development cost for such technologies. Each party will be entitled to license fees or a credit towards its one
half of the cost based upon the validity, value, use, importance and available alternatives of the technoiogy it
contributes. In our discussions we have yet tc agree on the validity, vaiue, use, importance and available
alternatives of our respective technologies. If we fail to reach agreement, the fees or credits may be determined
through binding arbitration. We cannot predict at this time the amount of license fees or contribution payable by
us or Sirius Radio or the size of the credits to us and Sirius Radio from the use of the other’s technology. This
may require significant additional capital.
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Funds Required in 2002 and Beyond

Although we commenced nationwide commercial operations in November 2001, we expect to need significant
additional funds to cover our cash requirements before we generate sufficient cash flow from operations to
cover our expenses. We estimate that our existing resources would be sufficient in the absence of additionat
financing to cover our estimated funding needs into the fourth quarter of 2002. We estimate that we will

need an additional $40 million to $65 million through the end of 2002, and we will require additional funding
thereafter. These estimates may change, and we may need additional financing in excess of these estimates.
Funds will be needed to cover broadcasting operations, sales and marketing, general corporate purposes and
further development of the XM Radio system. Sales and marketing expenses are expected to include joint
advertising and joint development with, and manufacturing subsidies of certain costs of, some of our manufacturers
and distribution partners. We cannot estimate the total amount of these operational, promotional, subscriber
acquisition, joint development and manufacturing costs and expenses, however, since they vary depending upon
different criteria, but they are expected to be substantial. In addition, our ability to generate revenues and ultimately
to become profitable will depend upon several factors, including whether we can attract and retain enough subscribers
and advertisers; whether our system continues to operate at an acceptable level; whether we compete successfully;
and whether the FCC grants us all additional necessary authorizations in a timely manner.

We currently expect to satisfy our continuing funding requirements by selling debt or equity securities and by obtaining
loans or other credit lines from banks or other financial institutions. If we are successful in raising additional financing,
we anticipate that a significant portion of the financing will consist of debt. We are actively considering possible
financings, and because of our substantial capital needs we may consummate one or more financings at any time.

We may not be able to raise any funds or obtain loans on favorable terms or at all. Our ability to obtain the
required financing depends on several factors, including future market conditions; our success or lack of
success in developing, implementing and marketing our satellite radio service; our future creditworthiness; and
restrictions contained in agreements with our investors or lenders. If we fail to obtain any necessary financing
on a timely basis, a number of adverse effects could occur. We could default on our commitments to creditors
or others and may have to discontinue operations or seek a purchaser for our business or assets.

Our need for additional funds may also be affected by future developments. In September 2001, we were advised
by Boeing Satellite of a progressive degradation problem with the solar array output power of 702 class satellites,
including XM “Rock” and XM “Roll.” At the present time, the output power of the solar arrays and the broadcast
signal strength are above minimum acceptable levels and are expected to remain that way at least through 2005,
permitting full operation of the XM System (based on patterns projected by Boeing Satellite). We have advised
our insurance carriers of the situation and believe that should we experience a total or partial loss, we would have
adequate insurance coverage, although there is no assurance that would be the case. Since the issue is common
to 702 class satellites, the manufacturer is closely watching the progression of the problem, including data from a
satellite in orbit approximately 18 months longer than XM “Rock” and XM “Roll.” With this 18-month advance visibility
of performance levels, insurance arrangements in place, a spare satellite under construction that is being modified
to address the solar array anomaly and availability of additional sateilites, we believe that we will be able to launch
additional satellites prior to the time the solar power problem might cause the broadcast signal strength to fall
below acceptable levels. Our management will continue to monitor this situation carefully over the next few years.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

We are obligated to make significant payments under a variety of contracts and other commercial arrangements,
including the following.

Marketing and Distribution Arrangements. We have entered into various joint sales, marketing and distribution
agreements. Under the terms of these agreements, we are obligated to provide incentives, subsidies and commissions
to other entities that may include fixed payments, per-unit radio and subscriber amounts and revenue sharing
arrangements. We have subsidized the manufacture of certain component parts of XM radios in order to provide
attractive pricing to our customers. The subsidies are charged to expense when the radios are manufactured or
shipped from the factory. Consequently, the expense is most often recognized in advance of when revenue, if
any, is realized. The amount of these operational, promotional, subscriber acquisition, joint development, and
manufacturing costs related to these agreements cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial future
costs. During the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 we incurred expenses of S0, SO and $19.5
million, respectively, in relation to these agreements. The amount of these costs will vary in future years, but is
expected to increase in the next year as the number of subscribers and revenue increase.
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Programming Agreements. We have also entered into various programming agreements. Under the terms of
these agreements, we are chligated to provide payments and commissions to other entities that may include
fixed payments, advertising commitments and revenue sharing arrangements. The amount of these costs related
to these agreements cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial future costs. During the years
ended December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001, we incurred expenses of S0, $0 and $7.2 million, respectively, in
relation to these agreements. The amount of these costs will vary in future years, but is expected to increase

in the next year as the number of subscribers and revenue increase.

General Motors Distribution Agreement, We have significant payment obligations under our distribution agreement
with General Motors. We will pay an aggregate of approximately $35 million through 2004. After that, through
2009, we will have additional fixed annual payments ranging from less than $35 million to approximately $130 million,
aggregating approximately $400 million. In order to encourage the broad instaliation of XM radios, we have agreed
to subsidize a portion of the cost of XM radios and to make incentive payments to General Motors when the cwners
of General Motors vehicles with installed XM radios become subscribers for the XM Radio service. We must also
share with General Motors a percentage of the subscription revenue aftributable to General Motors vehicles with
instailed XM radios. This percentage increases until there are more than eight million General Motors vehicles
with installed XM radios. This agreement is subject to renegotiation if General Motors does not achieve and maintain
specified installation levels, starting with 1.24 million units after four years and thereafter increasing by the lesser
of 600,000 units per year and amounts proportionate to our share of the satellite digital radic market. There
can be no assurances as to the outcome of any such renegotiations. General Motors' exclusivity obligations will
discontinue if, four years after we commence commercial operations and at two-year intervals thereafter, we fail to
achieve and maintain specified minimum market share levels int the satellite digital radio service market. Prior to
2001, we had not incurred any costs under the contract and in 2001 we incurred $1.3 miliion.

Long-term debt. In March 2000, XM issued $325.0 million aggregate principal amount of 14% senior secured
notes due 2010. In connection with this financing, an interest reserve of $123.0 million was established to cover
the first six interest payments, of which three have been made. Principal on the senior secured notes is payable
at maturity, while inferest is payable semi-annually. In March 2001, we issued $125.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 7.75% convertible subordinated notes due 2006. In July and August 2001, holders of convertible
subordinated notes exchanged $45.9 million of notes for 4,194,272 shares of our Class A common stock.
Principal on the convertible subordinated notes is payable at maturity, while interest is payable semi-annually.

In August 2001, we borrowed $29.0 million to finance the purchase of our headquarters facility. This loan is
for a term of five years and bears interest at a rate based on the London Interbank Offer Rate plus an indicated
spread. We make monthly payments of principal and interest ¢n this lean. In December 2001, we borrowed
$35.0 million from a subsidiary of The Boeing Company. This loan is for a term of five years and bears interest
at a rate based on the London Interbank Offer Rate plus an indicated spread. Principal is payable at maturity,
while interest is payable quarterly.

Lease obligations. We have noncancelable operating leases for office space and terrestrial repeater sites and
noncancelable capital leases for equipment that expire over the next ten years. As discussed below, in December
2001, we determined that the planned number of terrestrial repeater sites could be reduced due to the relative
signal strength provided by our satellites. We recognized a charge of $26.3 million with respect to terrestrial
repeater sites no longer required. This charge includes a lease termination accruat of $8.6 million for 646
terrestrial repeater site leases, which would reduce the future minimum lease payments.

Payments Due By Period,

i theusends

Contractual Obligations @~ 2002 2003 & 2004 2005 2006 & Beyond  Total

GM Distribution Agreement ............ $ 3,000 § 29,400  $ 33,500 S 372,400 S 438,300
Long-term debt ..ooovviveiviii 380 874 492 466,220 467,966
Capital Lease Obligations ............. 1,530 4 487 141 — 6,158
Operating Lease Obligations.......... 20471 42389 17351 16,126 96,337
Total oo $ 25,381 § 77,150  §51,484 $ 854,746 S 1,008,761

The above amounts do not include interest, which in seme cases is variable in amount.
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The long-term debt payments due in 2006 and beyond include the maturity of our $79.1 million of 7.75% convertible
subordinated notes, our $29.0 million loan to finance the purchase of our headquarters facility and our $35.0
million borrowing from Boeing, all of which come due in 2006, and the maturity of XM's $325.0 million of 14%
senior secured notes, which come due in 2010.

Rekted Pery Transacdons

We developed strategic relationships with certain companies that were instrumental in the construction and development
of our system. In connection with our granting to them of large supply contracts, some of these strategic companies
have become large investors in us and have been granted rights to designate directors or observers to our board
of directors. The negotiation of these supply contracts and investments primarily occurred at or prior to the time
these companies became related parties, except in the case of Motient Corporation, which was our founder.

We are a party to a long-term distribution agreement with the OnStar division of General Motors that provides for
the instaliation of XM radios in General Motors vehicles, as more fully described above under the heading “Liquidity
and Capital Resources—Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments.” In connection with the developmen
of our terrestrial repeater network, we are a party to a contract with Hughes Electronics Corporation and a contract
with LCC International, as further described under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Funds Raised to
Date.” DIRECTV has provided consulting services in connection with the development of our customer care center
and billing operations. We have agreements with Clear Channel Communications, DIRECTV, Telcom Ventures and
American Honda to make available use of our bandwidth. We have a sponsorship agreement with Clear Channel
Entertainment to advertise our service at Clear Channel Entertainment concerts and venues. Premiere Radio Networks,
a subsidiary of Clear Channel Communications, is our advertising sales representative. Motient Corporation has
provided technical and administrative support for our operations. General Motors is one of our largest shareholders
and Chester A. Huber Jr., the president of OnStar, is a member of our board of directors. Hughes Electronics is
our largest shareholder and is a subsidiary of General Motors. Jack Shaw, a member of our board of directors, is
Chief Executive Officer of Hughes Electronics Corporation. Dr. Rajendra Singh, a member of our board of directors
and a member of the board of directors of LCC International, controls the largest shareholder of LCC International.
DIRECTV, a subsidiary of Hughes Electronics, is a holder of our Series C preferred stock. Randall Mays, a member
of our board of directors, is executive vice president and chief financial officer of Clear Channel Communications.
Our chairman, Gary Parsons, is also the chairman of Motient, a significant early investor and formerly our controliing
stockholder.

We have incurred the following costs in transactions with the related parties described above (in thousands):

Year GM  Hughes DIRECTV  LCC Clear Channel Motient

Terrestrial repeater network
engineering and manufacture .... 1999 — 3,500 — 6,578 — —
2000 — 11,858 — 58,731 — —
2001 — 88,116 — 59,958 — —

Terrestrial repeater site leases..... 1999 — —— — —
2000 — — — — 5 _
2001 — — — — 36 —

Customer care and billing
Operations ..o 1999 — — — — _ -
2000 — — 1,008 — — —_
2001 — — 623 — — —

Sales and marketing................... 1999 — — — — _ —
2000 — — — — 3,175 _
2001 1,264 — — — 4,351 —

General and administrative .......... 1999 — — — _— — 224
2000 _— — — -— 3 252
2001 — — — — — 193
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Critfea) Accouniing

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, which require that we make estimates and assumptions. Our significant accounting

policies are described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements. In accordance with recent Securities and
Exchange Commission guidance, we have identified the following policies as possibly involving a higher degree of

judgment and complexity.

« Revenue Recognition — Revenue from subscribers consists of our monthly subscription fee, which is
recognized as the service is provided, and a non-refundable activation fee, which is recognized on a
pro-rata basis over an estimated term of the subscriber relationship, which was based upon market
studies and management's judgment. We expect to refine this estimate as more data becomes available.
Payments from customers receiving our service under promotional offers are not recognized as revenue
until the promotional period has elapsed, as described above under the heading “Results of Operations.”

Useful Life of Satellites — The expected life of our satellites was extended from 15 vears, the initial
design life, to 17.5 years based upon updated technical estimates we received from our satellite provider
following our satellite launches. We are currently evaluating the possible effect of a progressive
degradation problem with the solar array output power of our satellites, as described above under the
heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Funds Required in 2002 and Beyond.” We currently do not
have sufficient information regarding the anomaly to make specific conclusions with regard to the
performance of our satellites. We continue to monitor the situation and may need to adjust the life

of our satellites based upon future information.

Accrued Network Optimization Expenses — As a result of the planned reduction of the number of
terrestrial repeater sites, we recognized a charge of $26.3 million in 2001. This expense includes
$17.7 million of site specific capitalized costs that were written off and a lease termination accrual of
$8.6 million for 646 terrestrial repeater site leases. The contractual lease payments for the sites are
$35.1 million. The accrual represents an estimate of the costs 1o terminate existing leases based on
management’s judgment, advice of lease consultants, and early negotiations with landlords. The accrual
also includes the estimated costs to deconstruct the existing sites, which are based upon quotes from
contractors. This accrual could vary significantly from the actual amount incurred, which will be primarily
based on our ability to negotiate lease termination settlements.

Recent Asceuning Prencuncements

On July 20, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Statement No. 141 {“SFAS 1417,
Business Combinations, and Statement No. 142 (“SFAS 142"), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS 141
addresses the accounting for acquisitions of businesses and is effective for acquisitions accurring on or after
July 1, 2001. SFAS 142 addresses the method of identifying and measuring goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired in a business combination, efiminates further amortization of goodwill and other intangibles

with indefinite lives, and requires periodic evaluations of impairment of goodwill and other intangible balances.
SFAS 142 hecame effective on January 1, 2002. We are currently assessing the impacts of the adoption of
these standards and believe that SFAS 141 will not have an impact on our current operations, but that SFAS
142 will have a material effect on operations in 2002. As of the date of adoption of SFAS No. 142, we expect
to have unamortized goodwill in the amount of $11.5 million and unamortized identifiable intangible assets in the
amount of $155.2 million, all of which will be subject to the transition provisions of SFAS No. 142. Amortization
expense related to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets was $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $3.6 millien for
the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001, respectively.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 144, (“SFAS 144"}, Accournting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS 144 supersedes FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of, and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB
Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a
Business, and 25 Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions, for the disposal of
a segment of a business (as previously defined in that Opinion). This Statement also amends ARB No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, to eliminate the exception to consolidation for a subsidiary for which control
is likely to be temporary. SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
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December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early application encouraged. We are
currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this standard and do not believe that SFAS 144 will have a
material effect on operations in 2002.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DiSCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RiSK

As of December 31, 2001, we do not have any derivative financial instruments and do not intend to use derivatives.
We do not hold or issue any free-standing derivatives. We invest our cash in shortterm commercial paper,
investment-grade corporate and government obligations and money market funds. Our long-term debt includes
fixed interest rates and the fair market value of the debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. We run the
risk that market rates will decline and the required payments will exceed those based on current market rates.
Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest
rate fluctuations. The mortgage on our corporate headquarters has a variable interest rate that may not exceed
a ceiling rate of 14% or a floor of 8%. A change of one percentage point in the interest rate applicable to this
$29.0 million of variable rate debt at December 31, 2001 would result in a fluctuation of approximately $0.3 million
in our annual interest expense. Additionally, we believe that our exposure to interest rate risk is not material to
our results of operations.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FiNANCIiAL DATA

BN BT N BT T

" thousends, except subscrber ind 5

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

SUDSCITDEr FEVENUE v.vvvvceeevceee e seev e S — 3 — S — S — 3 246
Ad SalES TEVENUE ..ovei e rere e e e — —_ — — 294
Less: Agency COmMMISSIONS oovvrvivervviencrrvnrenneens — — — — {43)
Other rBVENUE ..o = - o= e 36
TOtal FEVENUL. ..ovviiieveee et sesie et ) — S — 8§ — 5 — § 533

Operating expenses:
Broadcasting operations:

Content/programming ....oocvecvinreiecrrneeinnns - (664) (1,014) 6,878} {27,924}
SyStem OPEratioNS..cvvvvivirie et reresreeisene e — {1,145) (2,877) (23,227} 67,571)
Customer care and billing operations .............. — — — (856} 6,034}
Sales and Marketing .oov...ovccrevicvciinnecnini e — (1,523) (3,352} (16,078) {99,789)
_ General and administrative ..ooveeeeecicnre e {1,110 (5,327) (14,496) (16,624) (24,595)
Research and development. ..o, — (7,477} (7,440) (12,7C1) {14,255)
Depreciation and amortization .......ccccoceveeniinenn. — {57) {1,512y (3,115 {41971
Total Operating eXPENSES v vvevrierereererrveneens 10y (86,193)  (30691) _ (79,479) 7(2482_ 139)
0perating 1085 cvoeeeiere e e b (1,110 (16,193) {30,681) (76,479)  {281,600)
interest income {expense), Net v {549) 26 6,205) 27,606 (2,933)
Other income {expense), Nel......ccevveovrinnnicnes = — — — - 180
NEBEIOSS 1rivivetieriiii et se et se e sen e {1,65%) {16,167) {36,896} (51,873) (284 379
Series B preferred stock dividend requirement ... — B — — ~ {5,93%) (3,766)
Series C preferred stock dividend requirement ........ —_ — — 9,277) {19,387)
Series B preferred stock incentivized
COMVErSION ChArBE ..oovvvi e — — — (11,211) —
Series C preferred stock beneficial
CONVELSION ChATE .ovoov e = — — 1123042 = -
Net loss applicable to common stockholders ......... S (1,659 S (16,1670 S (36,896) S (201,338) S (307,532)
Net l0ss per share—basic and diluted .......c.oooevee. S 0.26) S (2.42) S (2.40) S (4.15) S (5.13)
Weighted average shares used in computing
net loss per share—basic and diluted .......cveo.oee. 6,368,166 6,689,250 15,344,102 48,508,042 59,920,196
Other Data:
EBITDAIL) ettt srene S (L,110) § (16136) § (29,181} § (76,110) $ (239,184)
XM Subscriptions {end of period}(2) .....ccveervvenee. — — — — 27,733

Years Ended December 31,
1507 [ ioos J§ 1o W zoo W oo
{'r, thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments .. $ 1S 310 § 120,170 S 224,903 S 210,852
Restricted InveStMEMS.....vv v e — — — 161,166 72,759
Systemn under construction. ..o 91,932 169,029 362,358 815,016 55,056
Property and equipment, net ... — 1,146 2,551 50,052 1,066,191
Total @SSBES vt 91,933 170,485 515,189  1,283218 1,456,203
Total long-term debt, net of current portion .............. 82,504 140,332 212 262,665 411,520
Total ablIHIBS. ..vveeeeeeie et ev e r e 82,949 177,668 30,172 337,266 529,552
Stockholders’ equity (deficit).......coooveriiin i, 8,984 {7,183) 485,017 955,952 926,651
(1} EBITDA means earnings (10ss) before interest income and expense, other income, taxes, depreciation {including amounts reiated to recem* and Gewe DD("E‘f?u

and amortization. We have included FBITDA data because it is a commoniy used measure. EBITDA is not & measure of fina:
accounting principles and should nct be censidered an aiternative to net income (loss) as 2 measure of perfor r"arce ar to

(2] We conxider subscribers to be those who are receiving and have agreed to tay for cur service, citner by credit card ¢ by mvoice; relud
'n premetona! periods.

r gereraty accepled
Jre of iguidity.
hrise that are currently
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2001 |

{In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and Cash BQUIVAIBNES .....eove i oottt ottt ee et eee S 224903 $ 182,497

Short-term investments — 28,355
Restricted investments 45,585 44,861
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of SO and $10 — 478

Prepaid and Other CUITEMT ASSES ... i i cec ittt esaeseeesress e asseesee et eeassassaaseaas see saessnasns 8815 15,720
Total CUITENE ASSEES . i e et s 279,303 271,911

Other assets:

Restricted investments, net of current POTHION. ... 115,581 27,898
SyStem UNAEr CONSITUCHON ..ottt ettt et et 815,016 55,056
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
and amortization of $2,337 and $43,384 ..o 50,052 1,066,191
Goodwill and intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $2,599 and $3,974 .......cc..... 24,001 22,626
Other assets, net of accumulated amortization of $672 and $2,167 ....c.ccvvcrniiirrviciannnn, 97265 12,521
TOLAl ASSEES .ottt oot ettt et et n ettt re et e $ 1,293,218 $1,456,203
LIABIiLiTiES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ¢
Current liabilities: .
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ..o oottt $ 31,793 $ 36,559
ACCIUBH BXPENSES ..ottt eiitieiiie et ekt e et e et e et te e e e e et e et e e nata e tsa e raeeataeeabeaes rebeennnenasns 6,039 26,098
Accrued network optimization expenses (Note 15) .. ... — 8,595

Current portion of fongterm debt..........ocoiiiiii e 556 1,910
Due 1o Telated Parties ... e 15,429 26,052
Accrued interest 13,397 15,664
Total current HabUIES ..o 67,214 114,878
Long-term debt, net of current portion 262,665 411,520
Royalty payable, net of current portion 2,600 1,800
Other non-current liabilities - 4,787 1,354
Total BADINEIES ...t 337,266 529,552
Stockholders’ equity:

Series A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of $102,688);

15,000,000 shares authorized, 10,786,504 shares issued and outstanding

at December 31, 2000 and 2001 ... e 108 108
Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of

$43,364); 3,000,000 shares authorized, 867,289 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2000 and 2001 ... 9 9
Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 (liquidation preference of

$244,277 and $263,664 at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively); 250,000 shares

authorized, 235,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 2001......... 2 2
Class A common stock, par value $0.01; 180,000,000 shares authorized, 34,073,994 and

74,482,168 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively ... 341 745
Class B common stock, par vaiue $0.01; 30,000,000 shares authorized, 16,557,262

and no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively ......... 166 —_
Class C common stock, par value $0.01; 30,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 2001 ... — —
Additional paid-in CapItal ..o e 1,061,921 1,316,761
AccumUIBtEd ETICIT. ..o s ~{106,595)  (390,974)

Total stockholders’ BQUILY ..o 955,952 926,651

Commitments and contingencies (notes 1, 2, 3, 5, 10 and 15)
Total liabilities and stockhOIErS' @QUITY.........cooiie oo oo S 1,293,218 $1,456,203

See accompanying notes fo consolidated hnancigl statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATiONS

T I T

Revenue:
SUDSCTIBET TEVETILE ..ecvvevieiiitt sttt eae e e nee e et eenen e S — $ — S 245
Ad sales revenue — — 294
LesS! AZENCY COMMUSSIONS 1ovriirercreiieiererieceesbeesase e rssssae s evesnsssraeeretesoas — — {43)
OLhEr FBVBNUE .1evvvrereeieececee ettt e sttt ettt ce st be e b e - — -~ 36
TOMAI TEVEIUR ..cvtvveie et e ettt bbb et ste e a e bt e b e eren e = — 533
Operating expenses:
Broadcasting operations:
CONtEnt/PrOZIAMIMINE «oioreri e eiee e et cer st e et et e et ea et er e ranssae s (1,014} {6,878) {27,924)
SYSTEM OPBYALIONS .o ivveveereee ettt et ee st s e e e ere e e st s eer i aene e (2,877 (23,227) (67,571}
Customer care and billing OperalionS....i e e — {856} (6,034}
Sales anNd MArKETNE ..cvoveevreei et e e e ere e ere e (3,351) {16,078 {99,789)
General and adminiStratiVe. o vivres e iirenire s cereer e e e s aes {14,496) (16,624) [24,595)
Research and development................ (7,440) {12,701) (14,255)
Depreciation and amortization {1513 (3,115 41971
Total OPErating EXPENSES ..cvverivrirrrrieieeirtentetearerrererere e seee e eesesaneseeneeen _._{30,681) _ (79,479} 282 2,139
OPEIAtNE 10SS wevueieierceirrernis ettt sttt e et erere e s et e r e eas e nebss s e (30,691} (79,4790 (281,606)
Other income (expense):
LT gy o Tofe o o T T U U SOTRE RSP RT 2,916 27,6086 15,198
INEEIEST BXDEMSE 1. i iee ettt iet e et ee et ree et sresr e see e stesatareesvaeeraesnaeeneecrenere 9,121) — (18,131)
Other iNCOME, NET .ot et s e e e - = 180
N I0SS cveriireerie ettt ettt ete st ctset e st s e e s e seres ch et iabene sttt {36,898 (51,873)  (284,379)
8.25% Series B preferred stock dividend requirement ..o.ooooveveiveeeeeee e — {5,935) (3,766)
8.25% Series C preferred stock dividend reqUirement .ovvevevvceeeieeeeeee e — 9,277) (19,387)
Series B preferred stock deemed dividend .....oovieeieee e — {11,211} —
Series C preferred stock beneficial conversion feature .ooovvveevvcvviveeisviniiciene i, — (123,042) _ _—
Net loss attributable to common StockholBers .ovvvevervevcrivereiceereenn, S (36,896) S (201,338 $ (307,532)
Net loss per share:
BaSiC and QHUTEA ...vevcveriererieeeee ettt ee et eeee ettt S (2400 S (4130 S (5.13)
Weighted average shares used in computing net
loss per share-basic and dilUted ..oovviiei i 15,344,102 48,508,042 59,920,196

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICiT)

Series A Convertible Series B Convertible Series C Convertible

Preferred Stock Redeemable Preferred Stock Redeemable Preferred Stock

[ Srares [ moun [l Svares [l hmourc [l “tores Il hmoun |

{in thousands, except share data}

Balance at January 1, 1999 — S — — 8 - —  § —_—
53,514-for-one stock split ............ccooeveivnnnn. — — — — — _
Initial public offering .o........cooc i —_ — —_— — — _
Conversion of Series A convertible debt........... 10,786,504 108 — — — —

Conversion of subordinated convertible notes
payable to refated party ..o — — — — — —

Increase in DARS license, goodwill
and intangibles ..., — — - —_ — _

Charge for beneficial conversion feature
of note issued to Parent ... — — — — — _

Issuance of shares to employees through
stock option and purchase plans ................ — — - — — —_—

Non-cash stock compensation ...................... — — — — — —
NEL 0SS ..o —~ — - = — —
Balance at December 31, 1999 .................... 10,786,504 $ 108 — S — — 3

Secondary public offering ... — — — —_ — -

Sale of Series B convertible redeemable
preferred StOCK..........oooooeii — — 2,000,000 20 — —

Sale of Series C convertible redeemable
preferred StOCK.........oocvovviieiic — — — — 235,000 2

Incentivized conversion of Series B convertible
redeemable preferred stock........................ — — (1,132,711 {11) — —

Sale of warrants to purchase Class A common
SEOCK v — — — — — _

Conversion of Class B common stock ............. — — — — — _

Series B convertible redeemable preferred
stock dividends........ccoooei — — — — — _

Issuance of shares to employees through
stock option and purchase plans ................. — — — R — —

Non-cash stock compensation ..... — — —
Net 0SS .o = - — =
Balance at December 31, 2000 9 235,000 S 2
Converston of Class B common stock ............ — — — — — —

Incentivized conversion of convertible
subordinated notes to Class A
common StOCK ..o — — — — — —

Secondary public offerings ... — — — _ — —

Series B convertible redeemable preferred
stock dividends..............oc.. i — — — — — —

issuance of shares to employees through stock
option and purchase plans. .......................... — — — — — —

Non-cash stock compensation ... — — — — — _
Net10SS .oovveviiiiiie e — — — — - _
Balance at December 31, 2001 10,786,504 S 108 867,289 S 9 235000 S 2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financral statements
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Total

Additionat Stockholders’

Paid-in Accumulated

Deficit

Class A Common Stock Class B Common Stock Ctass C Common Stock Equity

Capital (Deficit)

[ sharcs [ Amount i Shares [l Amount Sl Shares [ Amourt |

{in thousands, except share data)

— S — 125 S — - $ — $§ 10,643 S (17,826) {7,183)

— — 6,689,125 67 — — (67} — —
10,241,000 102 — — — — 114,032 — 114,134
16,179,755 162 — — —_ — 246,079 — 246,349
— — 11,182,926 112 — — 106,843 — 106,955

_ _ . . — — 51,624 — 51,624

— — — — e — 5,520 -— 5,520

29,862 1 — — — — 303 — 304
14,716 — — — —_— - 4,210 — 4210

— — = == - (36,896} {36,896)
26,465,333 § 265 17,872,176 S 179 — 5 — $ 539,187 S (54,722) $ 485,017
4,370,000 44 — —_— — — 132,026 — $ 132,070
— — — — — — 96,452 — 96,472

— — — — — — 226,820 e 226,822
1,700,016 17 — — — — (&) — —_
— — — — — — 63,536 — 63,536
1,314,914 13 (1,314,914) (13) — — — — —_
145,166 1 — —_ — — (1) — —
73,565 1 — — — — 1,164 — 1,165
5,000 — — — — — 2,743 — 2,743

N — — — - - — — (51,873 (51,873)
34,073,994 § 341 16,557,262 S 166 — S — $1,061,921 $(106,595) $§ 955952
16,557,262 166 {16,557,262) (166} — — — -— —
4,194,272 42 — — — — 50,950 — 50,592
19,000,000 190 — — — — 197,896 — 198,086
466,180 5 — — — — 5) — —
190,460 1 — — — — 1,132 — 1,133
— — — — — — 4 867 —_ 4,867

= = - = - = (284,379)  (284,379)
74,482,168 § 745 S — S — — 5 — $1,316,761 S (390,974) § 926,651
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating actwities:

Netloss ... IR U PSP USSP S 136,896) S (51,873) S (284,379
Adjustments to reconciie net loss-to net cash used in operating activities:
Bad debt expense .. ... . — — 10
Depreciation and amortization ... 1.47 3,369 42,422
Loss on disposal computer equipment ... — — 435
Amortization of deferred financing fees ......... . . 509 -— —
Non-cash stock-based compensation ... 4,210 2,743 4,867
Norn-cash charge for beneficial conversion feature of note issued to investor.. 5,520 — —
Changes in operating assets and habilities:
Increase in accounts receivable ... — - (488)
Increase in prepaid and other current assets ... (905) (7,738) (6,905)
Decrease m other assets ... . 43 — —
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 7,519 16,026 29,531
Increase {decrease) in amounts due to related parties ... (1,316) 26 2,696
Increase in accrued mterest 3,053 — 8,763
Net cash used in operating activities ...t i (16,785) (37,447) {203,048
Cash flows from nvesting activiies:
Purchase of property and equipment ... (2,0C8) (41,925) (58,520)
Additions to system under construction ... {159,510) (424,342) (142,321)
Net purchase/maturity of short-term investments ..o 69,472} 69,472 (28,355}
Met purchase/matunty of restricted investments ... -— {106,338) 40,317
Other investing aCtiVItIES ... ..o 134227  (56,268)  {32,482)
Net cash used in mvesting activities. ... (234,412)  (559,401)  (221,361)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock and capttal centribution ... RUTUTI 114,428 133,235 199,219
Proceeds from issuance of Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock..... — 96,472 —
Proceeds from issuance of 14% senior secured notes and warrants ............... - 322,889 —-
Proceeds from issuance of Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock..... — 226,822 —
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated convertible nates to related parties .. 22,966 — —
Proceeds from issuance of 7.75% convertible subordinated notes ................... — - 125,000
Proceeds from mortgage on corporate facility ... .. — — 29,000
Proceeds from 10an payable.... ... — — 35,000
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes ... 250,000 — e
Repayment of foan payable to related party ..o, {75,000) — -
Payments for deferred financing costs. ... (10,725) (8,365) 6,124)
Other net financing aCtivIIeS ..ot B (84) =92
Net cash provided by financing activiies ... 301,585 771,053 382,003
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................................. . 50,383 174,205 (42,406)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 310 50,698 224,903
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pertod ..o 50,693 S 224,903 S 182497

See Arcomparying noies 1o congsohdatad fnanng statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FiNANCiAL STATEMENTS

(1) Surmmery ef Signifeant Ascouniing Policies and Praciiees
{a) Nature of Business

XM Satellite Radio Inc. (“XMSR"}, was incorporated on December 15, 1892 in the State of Delaware as a wholly
owned subsidiary of Motient Corporation {“Motient”), for the purpose of operating a digital audio radio service
("DARS”) under a license from the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”). XM Satellite Radio Holdings
Inc. {the “Company”} was formed as a holding company for XMSR on May 16, 1997.

The Company became the first digital sateliite radio service in the United States of America on September 25, 2001
when it commenced commercial operations in the lead markets of Dallas, Texas and San Diego, California as part of
its national rollout. On October 18, 2001, the Company continued its national roliout as it launched service in the
southern half of the country and completed its national rollout on November 12, 2001. In 2001, the Company’s
satellites, “Rock” and “Roll”, were successfully launched on March 18, 2001 and May 8, 2001, respectively.

{b) Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of XM Satellite Radic Holdings Inc. and its subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. The Company emerged from the
development stage in the fourth quarter of 2001 as its principal operations had commenced and its national rollout
had been completed. Accordingly, the Company revised the presentation of its Consolidated Statements of
Operations to reflect that of a commercial enterprise.

As discussed in Note 5, on September 9, 1999, the Company effected a 53,514-for-1 stock split. The effect of
the stock split has been reflected as of December 31, 1999 in the consolidated statements of stockholders’
equity (deficit); however, the activity in prior periods was not restated. All references to the number of common
shares and per share amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been restated to
reflect the effect of the split for all periods presented.

{c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers short-term, highly liguid investments with an original maturity of three manths or less to

be cash equivalents. The Company had the following cash and cash equivalents balances (in thousands):

___ December 31,

2000 2001
Cash on deposit ....ccoocvvcveev e s ) 97 (54,216)
Overnight investments ....ccccccvvviiiienennn. — 140,250
Money market funds .......ccoceeieiiiiiinns 224 806 2,794
Commercial Paper.......cooevvieeeirirriccrennan - 43,669

$ 224903 $ 182,497

(d} Short-term Investments

At December 31, 2001, the Company held commercial paper with maturity dates of less than one year that
were stated at amortized cost, which approximated fair value.

(e} Restricted investments

Restricted investments consist of fixed income securities and are stated at amortized cost plus accrued interest
income. At December 31, 2000 and 2001, restricted investments represent securities held in escrow to secure
the Company's future performance with regard to certain contracts and obligations, which include the interest
payments required on the Company’s 14% senior secured notes through March 2003, payments under the
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Hughes Electronics Corporation (“Hughes”) terrestrial repeater contract, and certain facility leases and other
secured credits. The interest reserve consists of US Treasury securities and are classified as held-to-maturity
investments. The remaining investments are principally money market funds and certificates of deposit. The
amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of the restricted
investments at December 31, 2000 and 2001, were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Holding Holding
Cost __ Gains Losses  Fair Value
At December 31, 2000:
Interest reServe ..o, S 106,338 S 1,060 ¢ — $107,398
CONtract @SCIrOW...ooirvre i 49,692 — — 49,692
Collateral for letters of credit
and other secured credit ..., 5136 = = 5136
S 161,166 S 1,060 S — $ 162,226
At December 31, 2001:
INErESt FESEIVE ooivivtiee oo S 66,020 S 1,354 ) — S 67,374
CONtract @SCTOW . c.ovv e 2,930 — — 2,930
Collateral for letters of credit
and other secured credit..........cooe 3,809 = - 3,809
S 72759 S 1354  § — S 74113

{f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Equipment under
capital leases is stated at the present value of minimum lease payments. Depreciation and amortization is calculated
using the straight-ine method over the following estimated useful lives:

Satellite system, DARS license, and space craft control facilities ........ 17.5 years
Terrestrial repeater network ... 5-10Q years
Broadcast facilities ... 3-7 years
COMPUEEY SYSTEITIS Lottt 3-7 years

Building and improvements ... 20 years

Furniture and fixtUres ... 3-7 years
Equipment under capital leases and leasehold improvements.............. Lesser of useful life

or remaining lease term

Depreciation of the Company's in-orbit satellites commenced in May and June 20C1 upon their acceptance from
Boeing Satellite Systems International, Inc. (“BSS”). Amortization of the DARS license and depreciation of the
ground systems/spacecraft control facilities and related computer systems commenced on September 25, 2001,
which was the date the service was launched in the Company’s lead markets. Depreciation of the broadcast
facilities and the terrestrial repeaters commenced when they were placed in service.

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the newly adopted provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets. This Statement requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets
to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the,
fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value
less costs to sell.
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(g) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired, is amortized on
a straight-line basis over the expected periods to be benefited, generally 15 years. Other intangible assets are
amortized over 10 years. The Company assesses the recoverability of its intangible assets by determining
whether the amortization of the goodwill and intangible assets balance over its remaining life can be recovered
through undiscounted future operating cash flows. The amount of goodwill and intangible assets impairment, if
any, is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceed the fair value of the assets.
The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill will be impacted if estimated future operating cash flows are
not achieved.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations,
{(“SFAS No. 141") and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS No. 142"). SFAS No. 141
requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations. SFAS No. 141 specifies
criteria that intangible assets acquired in a business combination must meet to be recognized and reported separately
from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 will require that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer
be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142,
SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their respective
estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS
No. 144 after its adoption.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 in the first quarter of 2002, the Company is reguired to evaluate its existing
acquired intangible assets and goodwill, and to make any necessary reclassifications in order to conform with
the new classification criteria in SFAS No. 141 for recognition separate from goodwill. The Company will be
required to reassess the useful lives and residual values of all intangible assets acquired, and make any necessary
amortization period adjustments by the end of the first quarter of 2002. If an intangible asset is identified as having
an indefinite useful life, the Company will be required to test the intangible asset for impairment in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 142 within the first interim period. Impairment is measured as the excess of carrying
value over the fair value of an intangible asset with an indefinite fife. Any impairment loss will be measured as of
the date of adoption and recognized as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

In connection with SFAS No. 142's transitional goodwill impairment evaluaticn, the Statement requires the Company
to perform an assessment of whether there is an indication that goodwill is impaired as of the date of adoption.
To accomplish this, the Company must identify its reporting units and determine the carrying value of each
reporting unit by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, o
those reporting units as of January 1, 2002. The Company will then have up to six months from January 1, 2002
to determine the fair value of each reporting unit and compare it to the carrying amount of the reporting unit. To
the extent the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an indication exists
that the reporting unit goodwill may be impaired and the Company must perform the second step of the transitional
impairment test. The Company has determined that it only has one reporting unit as defined by the Standard.

The second step is required to be compieted as soon as possible, but no later than the end of the year of
adoption. In the second step, the Company must compare the implied fair valug of the reparting unit goodwill with
the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill, both of which would be measured as of the date of adoption.
The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all of the
assets (recognized and unrecognized) and liabilities of the reporting unit in a manner similar to & purchase price
allocation, in accordance with SFAS No. 141, The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value
of the reporting unit goodwill, Any transitional impairment loss will be recognized as the cumulative effect of 2
change in accounting principle in the Company's statement of income.,

As of the date of adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company expects to have unamortized goodwill in the amount
of $11,461,000 and unamortized identifiable intangible assets in the amount of $155,207,000, all of which will
be subject to the transition provisions of SFAS No, 142. Amortization expense related to goodwill and other
intangible assets was $1,220,000, $1,379,000 and $3,604,000 for the years ended December 31, 1999,
2000, and 2001, respectively. Although the Company has not yet finalized its analysis of the adoption of SFAS
No. 141 and No. 142, the Company does not expect to recognize any transitional impairment losses as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
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(h) Revenue Recognition

The Company derives revenue from subscriber subscription and activation fees as well as advertising.

Subscriber revenue, which is generally billed in advance, consists of fixed charges for service, which are recognized
as the service is provided and through nonrefundable activation fees that are recognized ratably over the expected
life of the customer relationship. Direct activation costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company recognizes advertising revenue from sales of spot announcements to national advertisers that are
recognized in the period in which the spot announcement is broadcast. Agency commissions are presented as a
reduction to revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(i) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of
Accounting Principle Board (“APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25"},
and related interpretations including FASB Interpretation (“FIN") No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation, an interpretation of APB opinion No. 25 issued in March 2000, and complies
with the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Under APB 25,
compensation expense is based upon the difference, if any, on the date of grant, between the fair value of
the Company’s stock and the exercise price. All stock-based awards to non-employees are accounted for at
their fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123.

The Company adopted FIN No. 44 in July 2000 to account for stock options that had been repriced during
the period covered by FIN No. 44. The application resulted in additional compensation of $1,213,000 and
$1,232,000 during the year ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Additional compensation
charges may result depending upon the market value of the common stock at each balance sheet date.

(i} Research and Development and Advertising

Research and development costs and advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

(k} Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The Company computes net income (loss) per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share and
SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 {“SAB 98"). Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128 and SAB 98, basic net
income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to common stockholders (after
deducting preferred dividend requirements) for the period by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) available per share is computed by dividing the net
income (loss) available to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of common and
dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the period. The Company has presented historical basic
and diluted net income {loss) per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128. As the Company had a net loss in
each of the periods presented, basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is the same.

(1} Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.
Deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and the financial reporting amounts at each year-end and operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the sum of taxes
payable for the period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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{m) Comprehensive Income

The Company has engaged in no transactions during the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 that
wouid be classified as other comprehensive income.

{n} Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. The
estimates involve judgments with respect to, among other things, various future factors which are difficult to
predict and are beyond the control of the Company. Significant estimates include valuation of the Company’s
investment in the DARS license, the allowance for doubtful accounts, the valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets, the recoverability of the XM Radio System assets, the costs to terminate certain terrestrial repeater site
leases, the aliocation of purchase price of assets acquired, the estimated life of a subscriber's subscription, the
payments to be made to distributors and manufacturers for radios sold or activated, the amount of stock-based
compensation arrangements and the valuation allowances agamst deferred tax assets. Accordingly, actual
amounts could differ from these estimates.

(o} Reclassifications

Certain fiscal year 1999 and 2000 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

{p} Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative instruments and Hedging Activities. In
June 2000 the FASB issued SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activity, an amendment of SFAS 133. SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 138 require that all derivative instruments
be recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values. SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 138 are effective
for all fiscal quarters of all fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2000. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 and
SFAS No. 138 on January 1, 2001. The Company has reviewed its contracts and has determined that it has no
stand alone derivative instruments and does not engage in hedging activities.

(2)

The Company is devoting its efforts to market its digital audio radic service and to increase its subscriber base.
This effort involves substantial risk and future operating results will be subject to significant business, economic,
regutatory, technical, and competitive uncertainties and contingencies. These factors individually, or in the
aggregate, could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and future operating results and
create an uncertainty as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable tc continue
as a going concern.

At the Company's current stage of operations, economic uncertainties exist regarding the successful acquisition
of additional debt or equity financings and the attainment of positive cash flows from the XM Radio Service.

The Company has commenced commercial operations and will require substantial additional financing to market
and distribute the XM Radio Service. Failure to obtain the required long-term financing may prevent the Company
from continuing to provide its service. Management's plan to fund operations and capital expansion includes

the sale of additional debt and equity securities through public and private sources. There are no assurances,
however, that such financing will be obtained.
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(8) Releted Party Transections

The Company had the following amounts outstanding to related parties at December 31, 2000 and 2001 (in thousands):

General Motors Corporation (“GM”)...........
HUBhES oo
DIRECTV, Inc. (“DIRECTV") .vvviiiiiia
LCC International, Inc. (“LCCI" .................
Clear Channel ..............ccoocoiii
Motient.

~December 31,

2000 2001
— § 65
— 7,686
200 50
15,141 15407
25 2,101
63 152

S 15429 S 26,052

The Company has relied upon certain related parties for legat and technicat services during the years ended
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001. Total costs incurred in transactions with related parties are as follows

(in thousands):

"GM  Hughes DIRECTV

Terrestrial repeater network

engineering and manufacturing .. $ — § 3500 S —

General and administrative ............ —

Terrestrial repeater network

LCCI
S 6,578

~ Year ended December 31, 1999

$

Clear Channel

Year ended December 31, 2000

GM  Hughes DIRECTV

engineering and manufacturing .. S — $11,858 § —

Terrestrial repeater site leases ...... —

Customer care
and billing operations ................ —

Sales and marketing..........cooeveeenn. —
General and administrative ............ —

$ 58,731

LCCl Clear Channel

$

5

3,175
3

Year ended December 31, 2001

LCCI

Terrestrial repeater network
engineering and manufacturing .. $

Terrestrial repeater site leases ......

Customer care
and billing operations ................

Sales and marketing...................... 1,264
General and administrative ............ —

{a} GM

" GM  Hughes DIRECTV

S 88116 S —

559,958

Clear Channel

$

Motient

In 1999, the Company established a distribution agreement with GM (see note 15 {f)). Under the terms of the
agreement, GM distributes the XM Radio Service in various models of its vehicles.

(b) Hughes

In 1999, the Company entered into a terrestrial repeater manufacturing agreement with Hughes (see note 15 (e)).
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{c) DIRECTV

In 1999, the Company entered into a consulting services agreement with DIRECTV. The agreement provides for
DIRECTV professionals to aid the Company's efforts in establishing its customer care center and billing operations
on a time and materials basis.

(d) LCCI

In 1999, the Company entered into the LCCI Services Contract (note 15 (e)) and LCCl also provides certain ongoing
consulting engineering work for the Company relating to the terrestrial repeater network on a time and materials basis.

{e} Clear Channel

in 2000, the Company entered into an advertising sales agreement with Premiere Radio Networks, an affiliate
of Clear Channel Communications, pursuant to which Premiere sells to advertisers the time inventory owned by
the Company for advertisements to be run on XM Radio channels. Also in 2000, the Company entered into a
sponsarship agreement with SFX Marketing, now known as Clear Channel Entertainment, pursuant to which the
Company advertises its service at Clear Channel Entertainment events and venues.

(f] Motient

In 1998, the Company entered into an agreement with Motient, in which Motient would provide technical and
administrative support relating to the Company's operations. Payments for services provided under this agreement
were made based on negotiated hourly rates.

(&) System Under Censtueiien

The Company has capitalized costs related to the development of its XM Radio System to the extent that they have
future benefits. During 2001, the Company placed its Boeing 702 satellites “Rock” and “Roft” into service as well
as its DARS license, ground systems/spacecraft control facilities, related computer systems, and its terrestrial
repeater network and broadcast facilities by transferring $1,000,228,000 from system under construction to property
and equipment. The remaining components in system under construction include the ground spare satellite and
costs incurred through December 31, 2001 for the performance broadcasting studio. The amounts recorded as
system under construction consist of the following (in thousands):

__ December 31,

2000 2001
DARS ICENSE ..ot $ 140,220 S —
Satellite system .....cocoevviiiii e 533,155 55,016
Terrestrial SYStEM ..ooovviiiciicie e, 84,715 —
Spacecraft control facilities ..........cvvree.. 13,046 —
Broadcast facilities ... 27,971 40
Computer SyStems ..oooveevivvr e 15,909

$ 815016 S 55056
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(B) Prepery enc Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2000 2001

DARS liCENSE ovicviiieieieceecceseeee e ) — § 146,271
Satellite system .....ccoeviiviiii e, — 521,251
Terrestrial system oo, — 243,755
Spacecraft control facilities .................... — 24,353
Broadcast facilities ............occooevvivieeeenn. 16,752 55,686
LaNG oo — 7,156
Building and improvements ...........cc..oc.e.. — 42,269
Computer systems, furniture and fixtures,

and equipment ..., 21,063 68,834
Leasehold improvements..........c..cceeneee. 14,574

52,389 1,109,575
Accumulated depreciation and amortization .. (2,337) (43,384)
Net property and equipment, net.............. $ 50,052 51,066,191

In July 2001, the Company received notification from BSS that the expected life of its satellites was extended
due to the accuracy of the respective launches, which used less fuel than anticipated. The Company, therefore,
changed the useful life estimate for the satellite system and the DARS license from 15 years to 17.5 years.

In September 2001, BSS advised the Company of a progressive degradation problem with the solar array output
power of 702 class satellites, including XM “Rock” and XM “Roll”. At the present time, the output power of the solar
arrays and the broadcast signal strength are above minimum acceptable levels and are expected to remain that
way at least through 2005, permitting full operation of the XM System (based on patterns projected by BSS). The
Company has advised its insurance carriers of the situation. Since the issue is common to 702 class satellites, the
manufacturer is closely watching the progression of the problem, including data from a satellite in orbit approximatel
18 months’ longer than XM “Rock” and XM “Roil”. With this 18-month advance visibility of performance levels,
insurance arrangements in place, a spare satellite under construction that is being modified to address the solar array
anomaly and availability of additional satellites, the Company believes that it will be able to launch additional
satellites prior to the time the solar power problem might cause the broadcast signal strength to fall below acceptable
levels. The Company’s management will continue to monitor this situation carefully over the next few years.

in August 2001, the Company acquired its corporate headquarters, which was previously subject to a long-term lease.
The related leasehold improvements have been classified as buildings and improvements as of December 31, 2001.

In December 2001, the Company determined that the planned number of terrestrial repeater sites could be
reduced due to a network optimization study that was conducted. The Company established a formal plan and
recognized a charge of $26,300,000 with respect to the terrestrial repeater sites no longer required. The costs
are principally related to the site acquisition and build-out of the identified sites. These costs have been included
within system operations at December 31, 2001. Included within the charge is $8,595,000 for costs to be
incurred in 2002 related to these sites (see note 15 (h)).
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(@) Goedwill ene Other Inangble Assels

On July 7, 1999, Motient acquired a former investor's remaining debt and equity interests in the Company in exchange
for approximately 8,600,000 shares of Motient’s common stock. Concurrent with Motient’s acquisition of the remaining
interest in the Company, the Company recognized goodwill and other intangible assets of $51,624,000, which has been
allocated as follows {in thousands):

DARS LiCense ......ooveveveveiricecseiaens. S 25,024
Goodwill ... 13,738
Programming agreements ................. 8,000
Receiver agreements ..............oeeel 4,600
Other intangibles........ccco.coovierrenenn. 262

S 51,624

(7) Oxher Asses
Other assets consist of the following at December 31, 2000 and 2001 {in thousands):

December 31,

~ 2000 2001

14% senior secured notes deferred financing fees ..................... $ 8,493 S 8,858
7.75% convertible subordinated notes deferred financing fee ...... — 2,665
Mortgage deferred financing f88S .....coooiieeiiiceece e — 496
Loan payable deferred financing fees ..o — 943
Refundable deposits and other long-term prepaid expenses.......... 1,444 1,726
9,937 14,688

Less accumulated amortization ... o 872) (2,167
Other @SSELS, NEL...ove et § 9,265 S 12,521

(&) Lemg-lerm Delbt
Longterm debt at December 31, 2000 and 2001 consist of the foliowing (in thousands):

December 31,

2000 2001

14% senior SECUred NOLES ..vovioeeiiii et §325,000 § 325,000
Less unamortized discount on 14% senior secured notes ....... {63,702} (60,694}
7.75% convertible subordinated notes ... — 79,057
MOTEZAZE ©oooviitiiie et et re et aa e e — 28,909
L0aAN PAYBBIE ... e —_— 35,000
Capital I8ESES.....viori it - 1,923 6,158
Total long-term debt. ... 263,221 413,430
Less current instaliments ......ccoooievoin i - (bhe) (1,910
Long-term debt, excluding current installments .........c.ccoc...o.. §262,665 $411,520

{a) 14% Senior Secured Notes

On March 15, 2000, the Company closed a private placement of 325,000 units, each unit consisting of $1,000
principal amount of 14% senior secured notes due 2010 of XMSR and cne warrant to purchase 8.024815 shares
of the Company's Class A common stock at a price of $49.50 per share. The Company realized net proceeds
of $191,500,000, excluding $123,000,000 used to acquire securities that will be used fo pay interest payments
due under the notes for the first three years. The $325,000,000 face value of the notes was offset by a discount
of $65,746,000 associated with the fair value of the related warrants. The Company had amortized $2,044,000
and $5,052,000 of the discount through December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively. See note 10(f) for further
discussion regarding adjustments that have occurred to the related warrants.
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(b} 7.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes

On March 6, 2001, the Company closed a public offering of $125,000,000 of its 7.75% convertible subordinated
notes due 2006, which yielded net proceeds of $120,700,000. The subordinated notes are convertible into
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at a conversion price of $12.23 per share. The first interest
payment on the 7.75% convertible subordinated notes of $3.0 million was paid in September 2001. In July and
August 2001, the holders of the 7.75% convertible subordinated notes exchanged $45,900,000 of notes for
4,194,272 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The Company incurred a charge to interest for the
incentivized conversion of $6,500,000.

(c) Mortgage

On August 24, 2001, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with a lender that provided it with
$29,000,000 to purchase its corporate headquarters and incurred $500,000 in financing costs associated with
the transaction. The loan bears interest at 8% untif it adjusts on March 1, 2002 to the six month LIBOR rate piu
3.5%. The interest rate wili then be adjusted every six months and may not exceed the ceiling rate of 14% or
the floor rate of 8%. The loan will mature on September 1, 2006. The Company used the proceeds along with
$5,000,000 to purchase its corporate headquarters for $34,000,000 and incurred $800,000 in closing costs
on the transaction. The mortgage is secured by the building and an escrow of $2,000,000 at December 31,
2001. The Company is obligated to either increase the escrow by $1,000,000 and $500,000 in 2002 and
2003, respectively, or establish letters of credit to provide for these obligations.

(d) Loan Payable

On December 5, 2001, the Company entered into a Customer Credit Agreement with Boeing Capital Corporation
(“BCC") pursuant to which the Company borrowed $35,000,000 from BCC at an interest rate equal to LIBOR
plus 3.5%, increasing to LIBOR plus 4.5% after December 5, 2003, which is compounded annually and payable
quarterly in arrears. The principal is due on the earlier of December 5, 2006 or the launch of the ground spare
satellite. The principal would also become due should the Boeing Satellite Contract (note 15(d)) be terminated.
The loan is secured by the Company's interest in the ground spare satellite, excluding its payload.

[©) Felr Velue ef Finenclel Instuments
The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments
at December 31, 2000 and 2001 (in thousands). The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which

the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties.

December 31,

2000 2001
Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents.................... .o, S 224,903 S 224,903 S 182,497 S 182497
Shortterm investments..........o...cccciiiies veee — — 28,355 28,355
Restricted investments...............cooevein e, 161,166 162,226 72,759 74,113
Accounts receivable.............ooi e, — — 478 478
Letters of credit.............cooiiiiii e — 12 — 13
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable.........c.oooeveeiiiiiniiies e 31,793 31,793 36,559 36,559
Accrued eXpenses........oo.oviie i e, 3,474 3,474 22,541 22,541
Accrued network optimization expenses... ........ — — 8,595 8,595
Due to related parties............ccooeveeiinn e, 15,429 15,429 26,052 26,052
Royalty payable..............occoe e e, 5,165 5,165 5,357 5,357
Longterm debl.........ccoovviiriiiiiir e e 263,221 181,486 413,430 456,294
Other non-current fiabilities.................. oo 4,787 4,787 1,354 1,354

=
(=)
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The carrying amounts shown in the table are included in the consolidated balance sheets under the indicated captions.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets,
other assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued network optimization expenses, due to related
parties, royalty payable and other non-current liabilities: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because
of the short maturity of these instruments.

Restricted investments: The fair values of debt securities (held-to-maturity investments) are based on quoted
market prices at the reporting date for those or similar investments.

Letters of credit: The value of the letters of credit is based on the fees paid to obtain the Jetters of credit.

Longterm debt: The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is determined by either estimation by discounting
the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently offered to the Company for similar debt instruments
of comparable maturities by the Company’s bankers or by guoted market prices at the reporting date for the
traded debt securities (the carrying value of XMSR's 14% senior secured notes is significantly less than face
value because the notes were sold at a discount for value allocated to the related warrants).

(20) Equiy

(a) Recapitalization

Concurrent with the transaction discussed in note 6, the Company’s capital structure was reorganized.

The Company's common stock was converted into the newly authorized Class B comman stock, which has
three votes per share. The Company also authorized Class A common stock, which is entitled to one vote
per share, and non-voting Class C common stock.

The Company authorized 60,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which 15,000,000 shares are designated
Series A convertible preferred stock, 3,000,000 shares are designated 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable
preferred stock, and 250,000 shares are designated 8.25% Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock,
which are all par value $0.01 per share. The Series A convertible preferred stock is convertible into Class A
common stock at the option of the holder. The Series A preferred stock is nonwoting and receives dividends,

if declared, ratably with the common stock. The Series B and C convertible redeemable preferred stock are
convertible to Class A common stock at the option of the holder and are mandatorily redeemable in Class A
common stock. The Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock is nonwvoting. The Series C redeemable
preferred stock contains voting and certain veto rights.

On January 15, 1999, the Company issued a convertible note to Motient for $21,419,000. This convertible
note bore interest at LIBOR plus 5% per annum and was due on December 31, 2004, The principal and interest
balances were convertible at prices of $16.35 and $9.52, respectively, per Class B common share, Following
the transaction discussed in note 6, the Company issued a convertible note maturing December 31, 2004 to
Motient for $81,676,000 in exchange for the $54,536,000 subordinated convertible notes payable to a forrmer
investor, $6,883,000 in demand notes to a former investor, $20,251,000 in accrued interest to a former
investor and all of the former investor's outstanding options to acquire the Company’s common stock. This note
bore interest at LIBOR plus 5% per annum. The note was convertible at Motient’s option at $8.65 per Class B
common share. The Company took a onetime $5,520,000 charge to interest due to the beneficial conversion
feature of this note. These Motient convertible notes, along with $3,870,000 of accrued interest, were converted
into 11,182,926 shares of Class B common stock upon the initial public offering.

At the closing of the transaction discussed in note 6, the Company issued an aggregate $250.0 miflion of Series
A subordinated convertible notes to six new investors — GM, $50.0 million; Clear Channel Investments, inc., $75.0
million; DIRECTV Enterprises, Inc., $50.0 million; and Columbia Capital, Telcom Ventures, L.L.C. and Madison
Dearborn Partners, $75.0 million. The Series A subordinated convertible notes issued by the Company were
convertible into shares of the Company's Series A convertible preferred stock {in the case of notes held by General
Motors Corporation and DIRECTV) or Class A common stock {in the case of notes held by the cther investors) at
the election of the holders or upon the occurrence of cerlain events, including an initial pubiic offering of a prescribed
size. The conversion price was $9.52 aggregate principal amount of notes for each share of the Company's
stock. These notes, along with $6,849,000 of accrued interest, were converted inte 16,179,755 shares of
Class A common stock and 10,786,504 shares of Series A preferred stock upon the initial public offering.
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On September 9, 1999, the board of directors of the Company effected a stock split providing 53,514 shares
of stock for each share owned.

In 2000, at the request of the Company, one of the Class B common stockholders converted 1,314,914 shares
of the Company's Class B common stock into Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis.

On July 14, 2000, the Company filed an application with the FCC to allow the Company to transfer its control
from Motient to a diffuse group of owners, none of whom will have controliing interest. On December 22, 2000,
the application was approved by the FCC. In 2001, Motient converted the remaining 16,557,262 shares of the
Company's Class B comman stock into Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis.

(b} Initial Public Offering

in October 1999, the Company completed an initial public offering of 10,241,000 shares of Class A common
stock at $12.00 per share. The offering yielded net proceeds of $114,134,000.

{c) 2000 Common Stock Offering and Sale of Series B Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

On January 31, 2000, the Company closed on a secondary offering of its Class A common stock and newly designated
Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock. The Company sold 4,000,000 shares of its Class A common
stock for $32.00 per share, which yielded net proceeds of $120,837,000. The Company concurrently sold 2,000,000
shares of its Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock for $50.00 per share, which yielded net proceeds of
$96,472,000. The Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock provides for 8.25% cumulative dividends tha
may be paid in Class A common stock or cash. The Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock is convertibl
into Class A common stock at a conversion price of $40 per share and is redeemabie in Class A common stock
on February 3, 2003. On February 9, 2000, the underwriters exercised a portion of the over-allotment option
for 370,000 shares of Ctass A common stock, which yielded net proceeds of approximately $11,233,000.

On August 1, 2000, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its 8.25% Series B convertible
redeemable preferred stock to exchange their shares of 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock
far shares of the Company's Class A common stock. By August 31, 2000, the Company had issued 1,700,016
shares of its Class A common stock in exchange for 1,132,711 shares of its 8.25% Series B convertible
redeemable preferred stock. The Company recorded an $11,200,000 charge to earnings attributable to
common stockholders in the third quarter related to this transaction. This charge represents the difference in
the fair vaiue of the stock issued upon this conversion in excess of the stock that the holders were entitled to
upon a voluntary conversion,

The Company paid the 2000 quarterly dividends on the 8.25% Series B convertible redeemable preferred stock
on May 1, 2000, August 1, 2000 and November 1, 2000 by issuing 62,318, 57,114 and 25,734 shares of Clas
A common stock, respectively, to the respective holders of record. The Company paid the 2001 quarterly dividends
on February 1, 2001, May 1, 2001, August 1, 2001 and November 1, 2001 by issuing 56,269, 178,099,
63,934 and 167,878 shares of Class A common stock, respectively, to the respective holders of record.

(d) Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

On July 7, 2000, the Company reached an agreement for a private offering of 235,000 shares of its Series C
convertible redeemable preferred stock for $1,000 per share, which closed on August 8, 2000 and yielded net
proceeds of $206,379,000 and a stock subscription of $20,000,000 that earned interest at 7% per annum unti
it was paid on November 30, 2000. The stock subscription was received in November 2000 and provided an
additional $20,443,000. The Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock provides for 8.25% curnulative
dividends payable in cash. As no dividends have been declared on the Series C convertible redeemable preferred
stock, the value of the cumulative dividends has increased the liquidation preference. The Series C convertible
redeemable preferred stock is convertible, at the holders’ option, into Class A common stock at the conversion
price then in effect. Initially, the conversion price was $26.50, but is subject to change upon the occurrence of
certain diutive events. The conversion price has been adjusted as discussed below. The Company must redeem
the Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock in Class A common stock on February 1, 2012. At its option,
the Company may redeem the Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock beginning on February 8, 2005
in cash or, at the holder’s option, in Class A common stock.

=
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As a result of the current conversion price of $26.50 being less than the market vaiue of the Company's Class A
comman stock of $40.375 on the commitrment date, the Company recorded a $123,000,000 beneficial conversion
charge that reduced earnings available to common stockholders.

(e) 2001 Common Stock Offerings

On March 6, 2001, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 7,500,000 shares of its Class A common
stock, which yielded net proceeds of $72,000,000. On December 6, 2001, the Company completed a follow-on
offering of 11,500,000 shares of its Class A common stock, which yielded net proceeds of $126,500,000.

{f} Adjustments To Warrants and Series C Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock

The issuance of the Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock caused the exercise price of the warrants
sold in March 2000 to be adjusted from $43.50 to $47.94 and the number of warrant shares to be increased to
8.285948 per warrant.

The closings of the offerings of 7.75% convertible subordinated notes in March 2003 and Class A comman stock in
March and December 2001 caused the conversion price of the Series C convertible redeemable preferred stock
to be adjusted from $26.50 t0 $22.17, the exercise price of the warrants sold in March 2000 to be adjusted to
$45.27 and the number of warrant shares to be increased to 8.776003 per warrant.

{g) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company operates three separate stock plans, the details of which are described below.

1998 Shares Award Plan

On June 1, 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Shares Award Plan {the “Plan”} under which employees, consultants,
and non-empioyee directors may be granted options to purchase shares of Class A common stock of the Company.
The Company initially authorized 1,337,850 shares of Class A common stock under the Plan, which was increased
to 2,675,700 in July 1998, 5,000,000 in May 2000, and 8,000,000 in May 2001. The options are exercisable
in instaliments determined by the compensation committee of the Company’s board of directors. The options expire
as determined by the committee, but no later than ten years from the date of grant. On July 8, 1999, the Company’s
board of directors voted to reduce the exercise price of the options outstanding in the shares award plan from
$16.35 to §9.52 per share, which represented the fair value of the stock on the date of repricing.

Transactions and other information relating to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 1899, 2000 and 2001
are summarized below;

~ QOutstanding Options

Weighted-
Number of Average
~ Shares  Exercise Price

Balance, January 1, 1999 ... 787,297 S 1635
Options granted ...ooocoioviiiii e, 2,188,988 10.50
OptioN TePFCING. ..o {818,339) 16.35
Options canceled or expired................ (57,786) 13.91
Options eXercised ....covveivrevreecenconnonn o {1,071) 9.52
Balance, December 31, 1999 ................. 2,099,089 $ 1032
Options granted ..o 1,176,683 30.21
Options canceled or expired.........ooe... (131,267} 17.01
Options eXercised ..ccooovrveirvrrmreveenane (48,817) 9.52
Balance, December 31, 2000 «oovevvene. 3,095,688 $ 1761
Options granted .o.ocveeveierieienicnenne 2,680,415 15.54
Options canceled or expired................. (23,570} 9.55
Options exercised .....cvvvveeeniccciinnan, _ (253,593 17.88
Balance, December 31, 2001 ..occviveenn. 5,498,940 S 1662

)
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__ Options Outstanding __Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Exercise Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
_Price  Outstanding __ Life _ _Price  Exercisable  Price
1999 ©$9.52612.00 2,099,089  9.24years  5$10.32 416,294 5952
2000 $9.52:512.00 2,120,400 8.26 years $10.39 1,110,756 $10.06
$12.01-$30.50 297,685 9.03 years $23.13 5,334 S13.13
$30.51-545.44 677,603 954 years  $37.92 20,000  $43.69
2001 $4.82-59.42 363,700 9.31 years $7.91 55,000 $8.46
$9.44-$12.00 2,256,263 7.50 years $10.37 1,716,153 S10.21
$12.06-526.88 2,142,409 9.14 years $17.75 165,132 $18.90

53681 272681  $36.93

$27.63545.44 736,568 8.52 years

There were 416,294, 1,136,090 and 2,208,966 stock options exercisable at December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001,
respectively. At December 31, 2001, there were 2,197,579 shares available under the plan for future grants.
At December 31, 2001, all options have been issued to employees, officers and directors, except for 76,000
options granted to non-employees for which the Company recognized $1,147,000 in non-cash compensation.

The per share weighted-average fair value of employee options granted during the year ended December 31,
1999, 2000 and 2001 was $6.21, $22.06 and $8.77, respectively, on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Mode! with the following weighted-average assumptions:

December 31,

1999 2000 2001
Expected dividend yield................... 0% 0% 0%
Volatility ..o 63.92% 68.21% 62.40%
Risk-free interest rate range ............ 547% t05.97% 4.99% to 6.71% 3.66% to 4.99%
Expectedlife .....ccocoooooviii 5 years 5 years 5 years

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 1999, the Company established an employee stock purchase plan that provides for the issuance of 300,000 shares
of Class A common stock, which was increased to 600,000 shares in 2001. All employees whose customary
employment is more than 20 hours per week and for more than five months in any calendar year are eligible to
participate in the stock purchase plan, provided that any employee who would own 5% or more of the Company's total
combined voting power immediately after an offering date under the plan is not eligible to participate. Eligible
employees must authorize the Company to deduct an amount from their pay during offering periods established by th
compensation committee. The purchase price for shares under the plan will be determined by the compensatio
committee but may not be less than 85% of the lesser of the market price of the common stock on the first or last
business day of each offering period. As of December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Company had issued 28,791,
53,539 and 217,401 shares, respectively, under this plan. At December 31, 2001, there were 382,599 shares
available under the plan for future sale.

The per share weighted-average fair value of purchase rights granted during the year was $3.30, $11.28, and $5.37
for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. The estimates were calculated at the grant date
using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following assumptions at December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001:

___ December 31,

1999 2000 2001
Expected dividend yield................... 0% 0% 0%
Volatility ..o 62.92% 68.21% 62.40%
Risk-free interest rate range ............ 4.73% 5.33%-6.23% 2.4%-5.89%
Expected life ..o 0.23 years 0.24 years 0.24 years
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The Company applies APB 25 in accounting for stock-based compensation for both plans and, accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options and stock purchase plan in the financial statements other
than for performance based stock options, for options granted with exercise prices below fair value on the date of
grant and for repriced options under FIN Na. 44, During 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Company incurred $4,070,000,
$2,557,000, $2,336,000, respectively, in compensation cost for these options. Had the Company determined
compensation cost based on the fair value at the grant date for its stock options under SFAS 123, the Company’s net
loss and net loss per share would have been increased to the pro forma amounts indicated below {in thousands):

_December 31,

199 2000 2001
Net loss:

AS 1epOrted ovveeeeieeeeereen, $36,896 $201,338 $307,532
Pro forma....oocccoeevecviiieececcnn 37,706 209,582 323,685
As reported-net loss per share

- basic and diluted ................... (2.40) {4.15) 5.13)
Pro forma-net loss per share

- basic and diluted ................... {2.62) (4.32) (5.40)

Talent Option Plan

In May 2000, the Company adopted the XM Talent Option Plan (“Talent Plan”) under which nonemployee programming
consultants to the Company may be granted options to purchase shares of Class A common stock of the Company.
The Company authorized 500,000 shares of Class A common stock under the Talent Plan. The options are
exercisable in instaliments determined by the talent committee of the Company’s board of directors. The options
expire as determined by the talent committee, but no later than ten years from the date of the grant. As of
December 31, 2000 and 2001, no and 144,500 options had been granted under the Talent Plan. In 2001, the
Company recognized $575,000 in non-cash compensation expense related to these options under SFAS 123,
At December 31, 2001, there were 355,500 options available under the plan for future grant.

(R1) Creft Shering and Empleyes Sevings Plem

On July 1, 1998, the Company adopted a profit sharing and employee savings plan under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revernue Code. This plan allows eligible empioyees to defer up to 15% of their compensation on a pretax
basis through contributions to the savings plan. The Company contributed $0.50 in 1999, 2000 and 2001 for
every dollar the employees contributed up to 6% of compensation, which amounted to $164,000, $229,000
and $543,000, respectively.

(12) (nterest

The Company capitalizes a portion of interest cost as a component of the cost of the XM Radio System. The following
is a summary of interest cost incurred during December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 (in thousands):

1999 2000 2001

Interest cost capitalized ....ocooiveienn. $15,343 539,052 $45,211
Interest cost charged to expense........... 9,121 — 18,131
Total interest cost incurred ....oevvvveennn. S$24.464  $39.052  $63,342

The Company exceeded its capitalization threshold by $3,600,000 and incurred a charge te interest of $5,520,000
for the beneficial conversion feature of a related party note in 1999 and by $18,131,000 in 2001.
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(18) laxes

For the period from December 15, 1992 (date of inception) to October 8, 1999, the Company filed consalidated
federal and state tax returns with its majority stockholder Motient. The Company generated net operating losse
and other deferred tax benefits that were not utifized by Motient. As no formal tax sharing agreement has been
finalized, the Company was not compensated for the net operating losses. Had the Company filed on a stand-alond
basis for the three-year period ending December 31, 2001, the Company’s tax provision would be as follows:

Taxes on income included in the Statements of Operations consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

1999 2000 2001

Current taxes:
Federal .o, FI— S — S —
StAte ) — — S
Total current taxes ..ol — — —

Deferred taxes:
Federal oot S — S — S —
SHAte o = - =
Total deferred taxes ..ooocoovivevnennn = - =
Total tax expense {benefit)............. S — S§ — 5§ —

A reconciliation of the statutory tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the statutory rate applicable to the
income and the actual tax expense is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

1999 2000 200]

Income {loss) before taxes on income,
as reported in the statements of income..... $ (36,896) S (51,873) S (284,380)
Theoretical tax benefit on the above

amount at 35% o, (12,545)  (18,156) (99,533)
State tax, net of federal benefit ..................... 462 (2,588) (13,225)
increase in taxes resulting from permanent

differences, net ..o 2,060 562 2,701
Adjustments arising from differences

in the basis of measurement for tax purposes

and financial reporting purposes and other ... 13,182 9 —
Change in valuation allowance ..................... (3,159 20,173 110,057
Taxes on income for the reported year ........... S — § — S —
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At December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, deferred income tax consists of future tax assets/Aliabilities) attributable

to the following (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss/other tax attribute
carryovers
Start-up costs
Other deferred tax assets
Gross total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ..
Net deferred assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets
DARS license
Other intangible assets
Net deferred tax liabilities
Deferred income tax, net

December 31,

1999 2000 2001
2,490 S 14,716 S 60,369
17,765 40,033 99,822
= ... — 18886
20,255 54749 179,077
. (4819) _ (24,992) _ (135,049)
15436 29,757 44,028
(51) (155000  (29,437)
(10,160)  (9,735) (9,670)
(52250 (45220 14,921)
(15,436) _ (29,757)  (44,028)
_ 5 IS —

At December 31, 2001, the Company had accumulated net operating losses of $150,884,000 for Federal income
tax purposes that are available to offset future regular taxable income. These operating loss carryforwards
expire between the years 2012 and 2021, Utilization of these net operating losses are subject to limitations
because there have been significant changes in the stock ownership of the Company. In assessing the realizability

of deferred tax assets, management considers whether

it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the

deferred tax assets will not be realized. The uitimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax

planning strategies in making this assessment.

(14) Supplemental Cash
The Company paid S0, $11,198,000, and $9,174,000

for interest (net of amounts capitalized) during 1999,

2000, and 2001, respectively. Additionally, the Company incurred the following non-cash financing and investing

activities (in thousands):

Increase in DARS license, goodwill and intangibles

Liabilities exchanged for new convertible note to

related parties
Non-cash capitalized interest
Accrued system milestone payments
Systems under construction placed into service
Property acquired through capital leases
Conversion of debt to equity
Use of deposit/escrow for terrestrial repeater

contracts
Interest converted into principal note balance
Accrued expenses transferred to loan balance

December 31,

1999 2000 2001

...... $ 51,624 § — S -
.......... 81,676 — —
.......... 15,162 16,302 4,571
.......... 15,500 30,192 37,775
.......... — — 1,000,228
.......... 470 1,688 6,177
.......... 353,315 — 50,992
.......... — 3,422 80,431
.......... 4,601 — —
.......... 7,405 — —
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(1%) Commitmerts ane Confingencies
{a} DARS License

The Company's DARS license is valid for eight years upon successful launch and orbital insertion of the satellites
and can be extended by the Company. The DARS license requires that the Company comply with a construction
and launch schedule specified by the FCC for each of the two authorized satellites, which has occurred. The FCC
has the authority to revoke the authorizations and in connection with such revocation could exercise its authority
to rescind the Company's license. The Company believes that the exercise of such authority to rescind the ficense
is unlikely. Additionally, the FCC has not yet issued final rules permitting the Company to deploy its terrestrial
repeaters to fill gaps in satellite coverage. The Company is operating its repeaters on a non-interference basis
pursuant to a grant of special temporary authority from the FCC, which expired March 18, 2002. On March 11,
2002, the Company applied for an extension of this special temporary authority and can continue to operate its
terrestrial repeaters pursuant to the special temporary authority pending a final determination on this extension
request. This authority is currently being challenged by operators of terrestrial wireless systems who have asserte
that the Company's repeaters may cause interference.

{(b) Application for Review of DARS License

One of the losing bidders for the DARS licenses filed an Application for Review by the full FCC of the Licensing
Order that granted the Company its DARS license. The Application for Review alleges that a former investor had
effectively taken control of the Company without FCC approval. The FCC has denied the Application for Review
and the losing bidder has appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, The
FCC or the U.S. Court of Appeals has the authority to overturn the award of the DARS ficense should they rule in favor
of the losing bidder. Although the Company believes that its right to the DARS license will withstand the challenge
as the former investor is no longer a stockholder in the Company, no prediction of the outcome of this challenge
can be made with any certainty. The FCC's approval of the transfer of control of the DARS license to a diffuse
group of owners, granted in December 2000, is conditioned upon the outcome of the application for review.

(c) Technology Licenses

Effective January 1, 1998, XMSR entered into a technology licensing agreement with Motient and WorldSpace
Management Corporation (“WorldSpace MC”) by which as compensation for certain licensed technology then
under development to be used in the XM Radio System, XMSR will pay up to $14,300,000 to WorldSpace MC
over a ten-year period. As of December 31, 2001, XMSR incurred costs of $6,696,000 payable to WorldSpace
MC. Any additional amounts to be incurred under this agreement are dependent upon further development of the
technology, which is at XMSR's option. No liability exists to Motient or WorldSpace MC should such developments
prove unsuccessful. XMSR maintains an accrual of $5,357,000 payable to WorldSpace MC for quarterly royalty
payments to be made after XMSR recognizes $5,000,000 in revenue.

(d) Satellite Contract

During the first half of 1999, the Company and BSS amended the sateliite contract to construct and launch the
Company’s satellites to implement a revised work timetable, payment schedule to reflect the timing of the receipt
of additional funding, and technical modifications. BSS has delivered two satellites in orbit and is to complete
the construction of a ground spare satellite. BSS has also provided ground equipment and software used in the
XM Radio System and certain launch and operations support services. The contract also provides for in-orbit
incentives to be earned depending on the performance of the in-orbit satellites over their useful lives. Such payment
could total up to an additional $70,183,000 over the usefut lives of the satellites. As of December 31, 2001,
the Company had paid $470,376,000 under the sateliite contract and had accrued $741,000.

On December 5, 2001, the Company and Boeing amended the satellite contract so as to permit the deferral of
approximately $31 million of payments to be made under the agreement, as well as to provide certain additional
rights and obligations to the Company, including the launch of the ground spare satellite on the Seal.aunch
launch vehicle should the ground spare satellite be launched between specified dates. Under the amendment,
deferred amounts must be repaid by December 5, 2006 and the amounts deferred bear interest at the rate of
8%, compounded annually, and are payable quarterly in arrears.
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(e} Terrestrial Repeater System Contracts

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had incurred aggregate costs of approximately $243,500,000 for its
terrestrial repeater system. These costs covered the capital costs of the design, development and installation

of a system of terrestrial repeaters to cover approximately 60 cities and metropolitan areas. In August 1999, the
Company signed a contract with LCC! calling for engineering and site preparation. As of December 31, 2001, the
Company had paid $109,860,000 and accrued an additional $15,407,000 under this contract. The Company also
entered into a contract effective October 22, 1999 with Hughes for the design, development and manufacture of
the terrestrial repeaters. Payments under the contract are expected to be approximately $128,000,600, which
could be modified based on the number of terrestrial repeaters that are required for the system. As cf December
31, 2001, the Company had paid $95,788,000 and accrued an additional $7,685,000 under this contract.

(f) GM Distribution Agreement

The Company has signed a long-term distribution agreement with the OnStar division of GM praviding for the
installation of XM radios in GM vehicles. During the term of the agreement, which expires 12 years from the
commencement date of the Company's commercial operations, GM has agreed to distribute the service o the
exclusion of other S-band satellite digital radio services. The Company will also have a non-exclusive right to
arrange for the installation of XM radios included in OnStar systems in non-GM vehicles that are sold for use in the
United States. The Company has significant annual, fixed payment obligations to General Mators through 2004,
These payments approximate $35,000,000 in the aggregate during this period. Additional annual fixed payment
obligations beyond 2004 range from less than $35,000,000 to approximately $130,000,000 through 2009,
aggregating approximately $400,000,000. In arder to encourage the broad installation of XM radics in GM
vehicles, the Company has agreed to subsidize a portion of the cost of XM radios, and to make incentive payments
to GM when the owners of GM vehicles with installed XM radios become subscribers for the Company's service.
The Company must also share with GM a percentage of the subscription revenue attributable to GM vehicles with
instalted XM radios, which percentage increases untit there are more than 8 million GM vehicles with installed XM
radios. The Company will also make available to GM bandwidth on the Company's systems. The agreement is
subject to renegotiations at any time based upon the installation of radios that are compatible with a unified
standard or capable of receiving Sirius Satellite Radio, Inc.'s (*Sirius Radio”) service. The agreement is subject to
renegotiations if, four years after the commencement of the Comipany's commercial cperations and at twoyear
intervals thereafter GM does nat achieve and maintain specified installation levels of GM vehicles capable of receiving
the Company's service, starting with 1,240,000 units after four years, and thereafter increasing by the tesser of
600,000 units per year and amounts proportionate to target market shares in the satellife digital radio service
market. There can be no assurances as to the outcome of any such renegotiations. GM's exclusivity cbligations
will discontinue if, four years after the Company commences commercial operations and at two-year intervals
thereafter, the Company fails to achieve and maintain specified minimum market share levels in the satellite digital
radio service market. Prior to 2001, the Company had not incurred any costs under the contract. As of Decernber
31, 2001, the Company has paid $608,000 and accrued costs of $656,000 under the agreement.

(g) Joint Development Agreement

On January 12, 1999, Sirius Radic, the other halder of an FCC satellite radio license, commenced an action against
the Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, alleging that the Company
was infringing or would infringe three patents assigned to Sirius Radic. In its complaint, Sirius Radio sought maoney
damages to the extent the Company manufactured, used or sold any product or method claimed in their patents and
injunctive relief. On February 16, 2000, this suit was resolved in accordance with the terms of a jont development
agreement between the Company and Sirius Radio and both companies agreed to crosslicense their respective
property. Each party is obligated to fund one half of the development cost for a unified standard for satellite radios.
Each party will be entitled to license fees or a credit towards its one half of the cost based upon the validity, value,
use, importance and available alternatives of the technology it contributes. The amounts for these fees or credits
will be determined over time by agreement of the parties or by arbitration. The parties have yet to agree on the
validity, value, use, importance and available afternatives of their respective technologies. The companies have agreed
to seek arbitration to resolve issues with respect to certain existing technology. If this agreement is terminated before
the value of the license has been determined due to the Company's faillire to perform a material covenant or obligation,
then this suit could be refiled.
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(h) Accrued Network Optimization Expenses

In December 2001, the Company determined that the planned number of terrestrial repeater sites could be reduced
due to a network optimization study that was conducted. The Company established a formal plan and recognized 4
charge of $26,300,000 with respect to the terrestrial repeater sites no longer required. Included within the charge
is $8,595,000 for costs to be incurred in 2002 related to these sites.

The Company estimated lease termination costs based upon contractual lease costs and expected negotiation
results as determined by discussions with landlords and consultants. Approximately 53% of these leases are
subject to master lease agreements with large tower companies. Based upon preliminary discussions with the
tower companies, the Company assumed that they would be able to swap a portion of the existing sites for other
sites in other areas in which terrestrial repeater networks will be developed in the future, without incurring all of the
contractual obligations. As a result, the Company estimated the total of the lease termination costs would be
substantially lower than the contractual lease obligations. The contractual payments amount to approximately
$35,100,000. Additionally, the Company’s leases typically contain a clause that requires the Company to return a
site to its original condition upon lease termination. The Company has established an accrual of $8,595,000 for
the estimated lease termination costs and costs to deconstruct the sites. The actual amount to be incurred could
vary significantly from this estimate.

(i) Warrants
Sony Warrant

In February 2000, the Company issued a warrant to Sony exercisable for shares of the Company’s Class A common
stock. The warrant will vest at the time that the Company attains its miflionth customer, and the number of shares
underlying the warrant will be determined by the percentage of XM Radios that have a Sony brand name as of the
vesting date. If Sony achieves its maximum performance target, the warrant will be exercisable for 2% of the total
number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock on a fully-diluted basis. The exercise price of the Sony
warrant will equal 105% of fair market value of the Class A common stock on the vesting date, determined based
upon the 20-day trailing average. As the Company has commenced commercial operations and Sony began selling]
its radios in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recognized $131,000 of compensation expense related to
this warrant in 2001.

CNBC Warrant

In May 2001, the Company granted a warrant to purchase 90,000 shares of Class A common stock consisting
of three 30,000 share tranches to purchase shares at $26.50 per share, which expire in 11, 12, and 13 years,
respectively. The warrants began to vest on September 25, 2001 when the Company reached its commercial
launch and will be vested on September 1, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively. The Company recognized
$290,000 in non-cash compensation expense related to these warrants in 2001.

{i) Sales, Marketing and Distribution Agreements

The Company has entered into various joint sales, marketing and distribution agreements. Under the terms of these
agreements, the Company is obligated to provide incentives, subsidies and commissions to other entities that may
include fixed payments, per-unit radio and subscriber amounts and revenue sharing arrangements. The amount of
these operational, promaotional, subscriber acquisition, joint development, and manufacturing costs related to these
agreements cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial future costs. During the years ended December
31, 1999, 2000 and 2001 the Company incurred expenses of SO, SO and $19,545,000, respectively, in relation tg
these agreements. The amount of these costs will vary in future years, but is expected to increase in the next year
as the number of subscribers and revenue increase.

(k) Programming Agreements
The Company has entered into various programming agreements. Under the terms of these agreements, the

Company is obligated to provide payments and commissions to other entities that may include fixed payments,
advertising commitments and revenue sharing arrangements. The amount of these costs related to these agreement
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cannot be estimated, but are expected to be substantial future costs. During the years ended December 31, 1999,
2000, 2001, the Company incurred expenses of $0, S0 and $7,230,000, respectively, in relation to these agreements.
The amount of these costs will vary in future years, but is expected to increase in the next year as the number of
subscribers and revenue increase.

(I} Leases

The Company has noncancelable operating leases for office space and terrestrial repeater sites and noncancelable
capital leases for equipment that expire over the next ten years. Additionally, the Company owns a bulding and
leases a portion of the space to other entities. The future minimum lease payments and rentals under noncancelable
leases as of December 31, 2001 are (in thousands):

Capital Operating
Lease Lease Rental
Payments Payments Income
Year ending December 31:
2002 i, S 2974 S 20,471 S 1,511
2003 (e 2,835 20,966 1,427
2004 (i, 1,098 21,423 1,71€
2005 i, 141 17,351 1,802
2006 i — 6,687 1,804
Thereafter ..o — 9439 26,065
Total e 7,048 S 96,337 § 34,325
Less amount representing interest ................ v (890)
Present value of net minimum lease payments ... 6,158
Less current maturities ..., (1,530)
Long-term obligations ......c.cocooevriievieienan S 4,628

Rent expense for 1999, 2000 and 2001 was $649,000, $6,082,000 and $22,724,000. respectively.

As discussed in note 15th), in December 2001, the Company determined that the planned number of terrestrial
repeater sites could be reduced due to the relative signal strength provided by the Company’s satellites. The
Company recognized a charge of $26,300,000 with respect to the terrestrial repeater sites no longer required.
This charge includes a lease termination acerual of $8,595,000 for 646 terrestrial site leases, which would reduce
the future minimum lease payments.
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1999
1st 2nd 3rd 4th
uarter uarter uarter Quarter
REVETIUBS oottt s et es ) — S — S — 5 —
OPErating 10SS ... cuvei ettt 4,421 4,020 9,37 12,876
Loss before iNCOME taxes ......ccovveevvevieiieeeieiiiieenins 4,367 3,999 17,402 11,128
Net loss attributable to common stockholders............ 4,367 3,999 17,402 11,128
Net loss per share—basic and diluted................... S (065 S (060 S (2600 S (0.27)
2000
1st 2nd 3rd 4th
uarter uarter uarter uarter
REVEMUES ...ttt S — S — S — S —
Operating oSS ...vevovieeii e 16,888 13,937 28,109 20,544
Loss before inCome taxes.......ccvevvveereieciiriececiieeeens 12,740 5,088 20,060 13,985
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ........... 14,212 7,259 160,095 19,773
Net loss per share—basic and diluted .........o......... S {0300 § (015 S (326 S (0.40)
1
1st 2nd 3rd 4th
uarter uarter uarter Quarter
REVENUES e eeee ettt eee et e eeeee et e, S — S — S 1 S 532
Operating 10SS .....ooiviriiiei e 42,124 42,094 62,114 135,274
Loss before inCome taxes ........coovvvvveeiiiveee i 36,948 38,478 64,982 143,971
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ........... 42,736 44,267 70,770 149,759
Net loss per share—basic and diluted ................... S (080 $ (0760 S (1.14 S§ (2.26)

The sum of quarterly per share net losses do not necessarily agree to the net loss per share for the year due
the timing of stock issuances.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company completed the nationwide faunch of its service. The Compan
also completed a public offering of 11,500,000 million shares of its Class A common stock {see note 10(e)),
realizing net proceeds of $126,500,000. In addition, the Company also closed on a $66,000,000 financing
package with The Boeing Company (see notes 8(d} and 15(d)), including $35,000,000 in new debt financing.
Further, the Company incurred a charge of $26,300,000 to system operations for terrestrial repeater sites no
fonger required {see note 15th)).
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iNDEPENDENT AUDiITORS’' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XM Satellite Radio Holdings inc., and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audis.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audits provide a reascnable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of XM Sateliite Radio Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 2001, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue
as a going concern. As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is dependent upon
additional debt or equity financing, which raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s plan in regard to these matters is also described in note 2. The consolidated financial statements

do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

KPMe P

Mclean, VA
January 23, 2002
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STOCKHOLDER iNFORMATION
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Corporate Headquarters

XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.
1500 Eckington Place, NE
Washington, DC 20002-2194
Telephone: 202-380-4000
Facsimile; 202-380-4500
www.xmradio.com

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The registrar and transfer agent is responsible
for handling shareholders questions regarding
lost stock certificates, address changes
including duplicate mailings, and changes in
ownership or name in which shares are held.

Requests may be directed to:
EquiServe

150 Royall Street

Canton, MA 02021
Telephone: 781-575-3400
WWW.equiserve.com

Independent Auditors
KPMG LLP
MclLean, VA

10-K

A copy of XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission will be
sent, without charge, to any shareholder upon
written request to Gary Tiedemann,

Manager, Investor Relations, at XM Satellite
Radio headquarters or via emalil to
ir@xmradio.com.

Dividend Policy

XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. does not
currently pay cash dividends on its Common
Stock and does not plan to pay dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Stock Exchange

XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc. common
stock is listed on the Nasdag National
Market® under the symbol XMSR.

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

The annual meeting of the shareholders

will be held at 9 a.m. Eastern Standard Time
on Thursday, May 23, 2002, at the

Hilton Washington Embassy Row,

2015 Massachusetts Avenue, NW,
Washington, DC 20036

Information via the Internet

Internet World Wide Web users can access
information on XM Satellite Radio at
www.xmradio.com.

XM Satellite Radio is an Equal
Opportunity Employer.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forwarddooking statements in this
Annual Report include uncertainties associated with demand for the company's service, the company's depend-
ence on third party vendors, its continuing need for additional financing, as well as other risks as described in
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Copies of these filings are available upon request from XM Radio’s Investor Relations Department.

Alf brands, products and service names mentioned are trademarks or registered service marks
of their respective owners.

© 2002 XM Satellite Radio Inc.
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CORPORATE iNFORMATION

Board of Directors

Gary M. Parsons
Chairman of the Board
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.

Hugh Panero
President and Chief Executive Officer
XM Satellite Radio Holdings Inc.

Nathaniel A. Davis
President and Chief Operating Officer
XO Communications

Thomas J. Donohue
President and Chief Executive Officer
U.S. Chamber of Commerce

Chester A. Huber, Jr.
President
OnStar Corporation

Randall T. Mays

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Clear Channel Communications

Pierce J. Roberts, Jr.
Managing Director
AEA Investors

Jack Shaw
Chief Executive Officer
Hughes Electronics Corporation

Dr. Rajendra Singh
Chairman of Members Committee
Telcom Ventures
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Executive Officers

Gary M. Parsons
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Hugh Panero
President, Chief Executive Officer

Stephen Cook
Executive Vice President, Sales, Marketing and
Customer Operations

Steven P. Gavenas
Executive Vice President, Programming

Dr. Stelios Patsiokas
Executive Vice President, Technology and
Engineering

Joseph Titlebaum
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary
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